New Jersey Institute of Technology Digital Commons @ NJIT

Dissertations

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Summer 8-31-2019

Modulation of corticospinal excitability induced by paired associative stimulation combined with movement

Ahmad O. Alokaily New Jersey Institute of Technology

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.njit.edu/dissertations

Part of the Biomedical Engineering and Bioengineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Alokaily, Ahmad O., "Modulation of corticospinal excitability induced by paired associative stimulation combined with movement" (2019). *Dissertations*. 1417. https://digitalcommons.njit.edu/dissertations/1417

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ NJIT. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ NJIT. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@njit.edu.

Copyright Warning & Restrictions

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

ABSTRACT

MODULATION OF CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY INDUCED BY PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION COMBINED WITH MOVEMENT

by Ahmad O. Alokaily

An essential feature of the brain is its capacity to undergo long-lasting morphological or functional changes in response to experiences or trauma. Advances in noninvasive brain stimulation techniques have led to increased interest in understanding neural mechanisms of neuroplasticity at the network level. Paired associative stimulation (PAS) is one of the most commonly used applications for noninvasive brain stimulation because of its clinical potential as an adjuvant rehabilitative intervention. However, the optimal method for incorporating PAS into rehabilitative activities remains unknown. This dissertation explores different approaches to combining PAS with movement and investigates the enhancement of the specificity of conventional PAS-induced effects.

A fundamental aspect in combining PAS and voluntary movement is the timing of stimuli with respect to muscle activation onset. Therefore, this dissertation first focuses on determining the effect of PAS on the primary motor cortex (M1) excitability when the stimuli are delivered during preparation or execution of a voluntary finger extension in a reaction time setup. The results of this investigation show that applying PAS during voluntary contraction or at rest increases the corticospinal excitability (CSE), while PAS delivered during movement preparation decreases CSE. This suggests that the direction of PAS-induced plasticity is dependent on the order of stimulation and the phase of the movement.

Next, combining PAS with the movement of the stimulated limb may further increase the enhancement of CSE. However, individuals with moderate to severe motor function impairment due to stroke may not be able to engage in the necessary repetitive voluntary movements of the paretic limb. The objective of this study is to investigate the feasibility of contralaterally coordinated PAS applied to the resting hand's extensors during fast extension of the contralateral hand in healthy individuals. PAS delivered during the muscle contraction of the left hand, and PAS delivered at rest both increase the CSE. Delivering PAS during the preparation phase of the left-hand movement leads to a decrease in the CSE. Thus, PAS-induced bidirectional plasticity effects that are dependent on the phase of the movement of the opposite hand.

Additionally, given the noted topographical specificity of the somatosensory cortex and reported muscle-specific PAS-induced changes, this dissertation also evaluates the feasibility of enhancing the specificity of PAS-induced effects through a simultaneous application of facilitatory PAS to hand extensor muscles and inhibitory PAS to flexor muscles while at rest in healthy individuals. The simultaneous application of PAS, targeting the hand extensor muscle with facilitatory PAS and hand flexor muscle with inhibitory PAS leads to a consistent and significant increase in CSE of the extensor muscle.

Finally, in a pilot study, two scenarios combining PAS with dynamic hand movements in a reaction time paradigm are explored in people with stroke. PAS of the ipsilesional M1 is combined with a voluntary activation of finger extensors of the paretic limb or during a nonparetic finger extension. This is done to evaluate the feasibility of combining PAS with voluntary movement in chronic stroke patients. Although there were no notable changes in the CSE, recruited stroke patients are able to tolerate and perform a motor task with both their affected and less affected hand while PAS is applied.

MODULATION OF CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY INDUCED BY PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION COMBINED WITH MOVEMENT

by Ahmad O. Alokaily

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology and Rutgers University Biomedical and Health Sciences – Newark in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Engineering

Department of Biomedical Engineering

August 2019

Copyright @ 2019 by Ahmad O. Alokaily

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

.

APPROVAL PAGE

MODULATION OF CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY INDUCED BY PAIREDASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION COMBINED WITH MOVEMENT

Ahmad O. Alokaily

Dr. Sergei Adamovich, Dissertation Advisor Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT Dr. Antje Ihlefeld, Committee Member Assistant Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT Dr. Alma Merians, Committee Member Professor of Rehabilitation and Movement Sciences, Rutgers University	Date
Dr. Antje Ihlefeld, Committee Member	Date
Assistant Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJ11	
Dr. Alma Merians, Committee Member Professor of Rehabilitation and Movement Sciences, Rutgers University	Date
Dr. Mesut Sahin, Committee Member Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT	Date

Dr. Gerard G. Fluet, Committee Member Date Associate Professor of Rehabilitation and Movement Sciences, Rutgers University

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Author:	Ahmad O. Alokaily
aution.	I minud O. I mokuny

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Date: August 2019

Undergraduate and Graduate Education:

- Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Engineering, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, 2019
- Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering, University of Miami, Coral Gables, FL, 2014
- Bachelor of Science in Biomedical Technology, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, 2010

Major: Biomedical Engineering

Presentations and Publications:

- Alokaily, A. O., Yarossi, M. M., & Adamovich, S. V. (2019). Direction of PAS-Induced Modulation of Corticospinal Excitability Depends on Timing Between Stimulation and Movement Onset. *Brain Stimulation: Basic, Translational, and Clinical Research in Neuromodulation, 12*(2), e14-e15.
- Alokaily, A. O., Yarossi, M., Fluet, G. G., Tunik, E., & Adamovich, S. V. (2018, July). The Effect of Movement Phase on the Contralaterally Coordinated Paired Associative Stimulation-Induced Excitability. In 2018 40th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC) (pp. 3080-3083). IEEE.
- Alokaily, A. O., Yarossi, M., Fluet, G. G., Tunik, E., & Adamovich, S. V. (2017, November). "The Effect of Volitional Movement on PAS-Induced Cortical Excitability" *Society of Neuroscience Meeting*, Washington D.C., USA.
- Alokaily, A. O., Yarossi, M., Fluet, G. G., Tunik, E., & Adamovich, S. V., (2017, May). The Effect of Volitional Movement on PAS-Induced Cortical Plasticity. In 2nd Moscow International Conference "Non-invasive Brain Stimulation and Functional Brain Mapping", Moscow, Russia.

To my friends and family

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to express appreciation and thanks to my advisor Dr. Sergei Adamovich for the marvelous academic advising throughout this journey and encouraging my research. I would also like to express my gratitude to my supportive committee members, Dr. Alma Merrians, Dr. Mesut Sahin, Dr. Gerard Fluet, and Dr. Antje Ihlefeld. This work would not have been completed without your expertise and guidance.

A special thank you to all my friends that supported me morally, Tariq Alzaied, Mohamed Almadi, Abdullah Khanfour, Ahmet Asan, Saleh Alshunifi, and Mohammed Alenzy.

In the end, thanks to all my lab members and colleagues, Dr. Qinyin Qui, Jigna Patel, Dr. Maryam Rohafza, Ashley Mont, Dr. Mathew Yarossi, and Dr. Thushini Manurewa.

Above all, I am forever indebted to my lifetime backbone, my parents, Dr. Omar, and Hafsa Alokaily and my wife, Dayma Garcia for their encouragement and devotion. I will never be able to compensate for your support and sacrifices. My appreciation extends to my wonderful family members, Maan, Osama, Abdulaziz, Sara, Nasser, Omar, and Abdullah Alokaily.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

С	Chapter P	
1	GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 Stroke Rehabilitation	1
	1.2 Non-Invasive Brain Stimulation	3
	1.2.1 Paired Associative Stimulation	5
2	OBJECTIVES	10
3	THE DIRECTION OF PAS-INDUCED MODULATION OF CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY DEPENDS ON TIMING BETWEEN STIMULATION AND MOVEMENT ONSET	15
	3.1 Abstract.	15
	3.2 Introduction	16
	3.3 Material and Methods	18
	3.3.1 Participants	18
	3.3.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording	19
	3.3.3 Stimulation	19
	3.3.4 Experimental protocol	20
	3.3.5 Determination of reaction time (RT)	23
	3.3.6 Data analysis	24
	3.4 Results	25
	3.4.1 Session to session within-subject variability	25
	3.4.2 During PAS, TMS timing relative to reaction time	26
	3.4.3 Changes in MEPs amplitude following PAS	26
	3.4.4 Changes in reaction time	29

С	hapter	Page
	3.5 Discussion	30
4	THE EFFECT OF THE MOVEMENT PHASE ON THE CONTRALATERALLY COORDINATED PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION-INDUCED EXCITABILITY IN HEALTHY INDIVISUALS	. 35
	4.1 Abstract	35
	4.2 Introduction	36
	4.3 Methods	. 37
	4.3.1 Participants	. 37
	4.3.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording	38
	4.3.3 Stimulation	38
	4.3.4 Experimental protocol	39
	4.3.5 Cortical excitability assessment	42
	4.3.6 Data analysis	42
	4.4 Results	43
	4.4.1 Session to session within-subject variability	43
	4.4.2 TMS pulse timing relative to the ipsilateral hand reaction time during PAS	43
	4.4.3 Changes in MEPs amplitude following PAS	44
	4.5 Discussion	48
5	THE EFFECT OF APPLYING SIMULTANEOUS EXCITATORY AND INHIBITORY PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION ON CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY	50
	5.1 Abstract	50
	5.2 Introduction	51

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Chapt	ter	Page
5.3	Methods	53
	5.3.1 Participants	53
	5.3.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording	54
	5.3.3 Stimulation	54
	5.3.4 Experimental protocol	55
	5.3.5 Cortical excitability assessment	56
	5.3.6 Data analysis	57
5.4	Results	57
	5.4.1 Session to session within-subject variability	58
	5.4.2 Changes in MEPs amplitude following PAS	58
	5.4.3 PAS-induced specificity effects	61
5.5	Discussion	63
6 TH BE IPS	E PAIRD ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION INDUCED EFFECT COULD ENHANCED BY INTRODUCING CONTRALATERAL OR ILATERAL MUSCLE CONTRACTION IN CHRONIC STROKE: PILOT	
STU	UDY	66
6.1	Introduction	66
6.2	Methods	68
	6.2.1 Participants	68
	6.2.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording	69
	6.2.3 Experimental protocol	69
	6.2.4 Stimulation	71
	6.2.5 Assessment of corticospinal excitability	72

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Chapter		Page
	6.2.5 Statistical Analysis	72
(6.3 Results	73
(6.4 Discussion	76
7	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	78
,	7.1 Limitations	80
REFERENCES		82

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Stimulation Parameters	25
4.1	Mean Stimulation Intensities	43
5.1	Stimulation Parameters	57
6.1	Stroke Patients Demographics	69

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page	
1.1	Mechanism of action of TMS of the motor cortex	5	
1.2	Schematic view of the PAS protocol: PAS consists of medial nerve electrical stimulation paired with a TMS pulse with 25ms ISI. The MEPs were elicited by TMS only before (pre) and immediately after (post) the intervention (IPAS). An increase in the MEPs amplitude measured from abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle is noted following the PAS protocol.	7	
3.1	PAS protocol setup: 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the right EDC muscle followed by TMS stimulation over the identified EDC hotspot at a rate of 0.2 Hz. In PAS at rest, subjects were instructed to relax both hands at all times (no cues were presented). In conditions where PAS was combined with hand movement, subjects were engaged in an identical hand extension task to the one described for determination of the reaction time.	21	
3.2	Stimulation timing relative to subject's RT for one trial in: 1) PAS RT-100, 2) PAS RT+50, and 3) Conventional PAS with both hands at rest. The ISI was always fixed at 25ms	23	
3.3	EMG envelop of EDC muscle in response to a move cue (blue). Movement onset is marked (X) as the first time point to exceed the threshold (red line) of three standard deviations from averaged baseline (taken as the mean of1000 ms window prior to "Move" cue).	24	
3.4	Effect of PAS on MEP amplitudes (Mean±SEM) of the right EDC muscle before (PRE) and after (POST) PAS. A significant decrease was observed when the TMS was triggered 50ms before the estimated RT, while a significant increase was observed when TMS was delivered 50ms after the movement onset as well as in the PAS at rest condition. (Paired t-test, $*p<0.01$).	27	
3.5	Mean change in MEP amplitude relative to the baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition. Individual responses relative to their baseline are presented for each condition.*p<0.05	28	
3.6	Effect of PAS on MEP amplitudes (Mean±SEM) of the right FDS muscle before (PRE) and after (POST) PAS. No significant changes were seen	e . 29	

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure

3.7	Effect of PAS on reaction time (Mean±SEM) of the right EDC muscle before (PRE) and after (POST) each PAS session. No significant changes were seen	30
4.1	Experimental protocol: 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the right resting EDC muscle (R-EDC) followed by TMS stimulation over the identified EDC hotspot at rate of 0.2 Hz. For PAS interventions that required left EDC (L-EDC) movements, participants were instructed to extend their left-hand fingers in response to the visual cue (Move), and then relax according to the visual cue (Relax).	40
4.2	Stimulation timing relative to subject's RT for one trial in: 1) ccPAS-100, in which TMS pulse was applied to the left ipsilateral M1 100 ms prior to the EMG onset of the left EDC muscle (L-EDC). 2) ccPAS+50, where TMS pulse was applied to the left M1 50 ms after the EMG onset of the L-EDC. 3) Conventional PAS at rest: Both hands at rest. In each of the three conditions, peripheral electrical stimulation was applied 25 ms before the TMS pulse. Electrical stimulation artifact was reduced using template subtraction method	41
4.3	Mean change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10) over time (POST, POST30, POST45, and POST30) in the PAS targeted right EDC muscle: MEP decrease was observed when the TMS was triggered 100 ms before the estimated movement onset in the left EDC while MEP increase was observed when TMS was delivered 50ms after the estimated movement onset in the left EDC and persisted 45 minutes after termination of the session. Conventional PAS at Rest condition induced a significant increase in MEPs amplitudes following PAS session. *p<0.05.	45
4.4	POST PAS-induced changes in the MEPs normalized to baseline (post/pre) in the EDC muscle. Triggering PAS during contralateral hand movement induced greater increase in the corticospinal excitability compared to conventional PAS at rest. (* $p < 0.05$, ** $p < 0.01$)	46
4.5	Group effect of PAS condition (ccPAS RT-100, ccPAS RT+50 and PAS at rest) on POSTs MEP amplitude relative to baseline (mean±SEM) after (POST) each PAS session and up to one hour of follow up (POST 30, POST45, POST60) in the PAS untargeted right FDS muscle. No significant changes were found.	47

Page

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure		Page
5.1	The experimental protocol comprising 240 pairs of stimulation, the peripheral electrical stimulation was applied to 1) the right EDC muscle (R-EDC) 25 ms prior to TMS stimulation over the hotspot (PAS25), 2) right FDS muscle (R-FDS) 10 ms before TMS pulse (PAS10), and 3) two electrical pulses in dual-PAS were delivered to FDS and EDC muscles, 10 ms and 25 ms before the TMS pulse respectively. The stimulation frequency was set at 0.2 Hz	56
5.2	Mean ±SEM change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10) over time (POST, POST15, and POST30)	59
5.3	Mean ±SEM change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the FDS muscle in each condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10) over time (POST, POST15, and POST30)	60
5.4	Mean ±SEM change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC and FDS muscle immediately following each PAScondition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10). By using dual-PAS, the PAS-induced effects were significantly limited to the EDC muscle. (** $p < 0.001$)	61
5.5	The effect of PAS on MEP amplitudes (mean±SEM) before (PRE) and after (POST) PAS sessions up to 30 minutes follow-up (POST15, POST30) in the PAS-targeted right EDC and FDS muscles for PAS25(<i>top</i>), dual-PAS (<i>middle</i>), and PAS10 (<i>bottom</i>).	62
6.1	Cyber Glove was worn by patients to acquire their kinematic data during the finger extension movements and deliver PAS stimulation to the affected hand. PAS was triggered by a change in the angle of five degrees from the patient's relaxed position following the presentation of a move cue on the screen	71
6.2	Group (Mean±SEM) change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition (PAS25, PAS+Vol, and ccPAS) over time (POST, POST15, POST30, POST45, and POST60). No differences were observed.	74
6.3	A) Individual stroke patients normalized to PRE MEP amplitude following PAS at rest (PAS25), PAS combined with voluntary contraction of paretic limb (PAS+Vol), and PAS triggered during ccPAS B) Group average (±SEM) of normalized to PRE MEP amplitude following PAS for healthy participant obtained from Chapter 3 and 4	75

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Stroke Rehabilitation

As reported by the American Heart Association, stroke is among the leading causes of death in the U.S. Although 75% of stroke cases occur in people aged 65 or older, strokes can affect people of all ages (Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Stefan, Kunesch, Cohen, Benecke, & Classen, 2000). More than three million Americans experience difficulties in their daily lives from disabilities due to stroke (Dobkin, 2005). These numbers indicate the continuous need for rehabilitative and therapeutic interventions.

A stroke can be classified as either hemorrhagic, when blood vessels in the brain rupture, or ischemic, when caused by occluded blood vessels in the brain. Both types of strokes can cause hemisyndromes associated with motor and sensory disabilities, which result from a brain injury to the motor cortices, the descending pathways, basal ganglia, and/or cerebellum (Sacco et al., 2013).

The ability of the human brain to reorganize its neural networks by learning or responding to pathological changes such as brain lesions caused by a stroke or injury is known as neuroplasticity (Dickins, Kamke, & Sale, 2017). This cortical remapping occurs in an activity-dependent manner and based on a competitive pattern (Murphy & Corbett, 2009). In the case of a small stroke, residuals of damaged networks compete with neighboring healthy tissues that share the same functions in order to recover their territory (Nudo, Wise, SiFuentes, & Milliken, 1996). On the other hand, the lost function of damaged circuits in a large stroke can take place at different structures distant from an

infarct location or contralaterally in the other hemisphere (Murphy & Corbett, 2009; Winship & Murphy, 2009). Through this compensatory process, along with the creation of new connections between intact neurons, functions can be recovered (Lin & Liebeskind, 2016). In stroke rehabilitation, motor recovery can be augmented through an emphasis on many factors such as timing and intensity of treatment and neuroplasticity. Some of the current commonly used rehabilitative approaches in clinical practice are constraint-induced movement therapy and bilateral arm training.

Constraint-induced movement therapy is a task-specific upper extremity rehabilitative method. In constraint-induced movement therapy, patients are forced to use only their paretic limb to complete tasks (Liu, Huai, Gao, Zhang, & Yue, 2017). The positive outcomes of increased motor function, dexterity, and activity of daily living have made constraint-induced movement therapy the most clinically used therapeutic intervention (Kwakkel, Veerbeek, van Wegen, & Wolf, 2015). Another known therapeutic intervention post-stroke is bilateral arm training. In bilateral arm training, stroke survivors are instructed to use both hands to perform movements at the same time. Bilateral arm training motor recovery is believed to be a result of the rebalancing of the interhemispheric inhibition between affected and less affected hemispheres along with the activation of the affected hemisphere (Pollock et al., 2014).

Although these treatments have been proven to be effective to a certain extent, moderate to severely impaired stroke patients cannot benefit from them due to their lack of motor function. Thus, their treatment options are limited. Additionally, it has been reported that currently used therapeutic interventions for stroke survivors do not deliver satisfactory outcomes (Dąbrowski et al., 2019).

1.2 Non-Invasive Brain Stimulation

Noninvasive brain stimulation is a term used to describe different technologies and techniques that are noninvasively, able to modulate the cortical excitability using transcranial stimulation (Boes et al., 2018). Recently, a massive interest has developed around the use of noninvasive brain stimulation techniques because of their abilities to induce corticospinal excitability changes, which might enhance the outcomes of traditional rehabilitative practices (Harris-Love & Cohen, 2006). Another important role of noninvasive brain stimulation is providing a substrate to explore brain plasticity at the system level (Carson & Kennedy, 2013; Muller-Dahlhaus, Ziemann, & Classen, 2010).

The activity-dependent modification of synaptic weight is known as synaptic plasticity (Citri & Malenka, 2008). The foundation of our understanding of neural synaptic plasticity comes from Hebb's postulate: "*When an axon of cell A is near enough to excite cell B and repeatedly or persistently takes part in firing it, some growth process or metabolic change takes place in one or both cells such that A's efficiency, as one of the cells firing B, is increased.*" (Hebb, 2005). Thus, the synchronous activation of pre-synaptic and postsynaptic neurons leads to the strengthening of synaptic connections, inducing long-term potentiation (LTP) where asynchronous depolarization decreases synaptic connections causing long-term inhibition (LTD) (Bliss & Gardner-Medwin, 1973). Both LTP and LTD are often proposed as candidate mechanisms for learning and memory (Martin, Grimwood, & Morris, 2000; Thabit et al., 2010).

One of the most used noninvasive, painless, and safe modalities for brain stimulation is transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). In the TMS device, an electric current is induced by rapid magnetic field changes generated by a TMS electromagnetic coil, which depolarizes the cerebral cortex neurons (Barker, Jalinous, & Freeston, 1985). When applied over the motor cortex, a TMS pulse depolarizes interneurons, activating the pyramidal neurons. The depolarization of pyramidal neurons arouses descending volleys that travel down the corticospinal tract. These descending volleys activate the motorneurons, causing a contraction in the peripheral muscle. By using a surface electromyography (EMG) electrode, motor-evoked potential (MEP) can be recorded in response to TMS (Klomjai, Katz, & Lackmy-Vallee, 2015). This TMS-elicited MEP provides a quantitative measure of corticospinal excitability (Bestmann & Krakauer, 2015) (See Figure 1.1). Since it was introduced in the late 1980s, TMS has been used to investigate cortical reorganization and excitability (Cohen et al., 1998). The viability of TMS in inducing short-term changes in corticospinal excitability in different brain diseases, such as strokes (Liepert, 2003), Parkinson's (Behzad Elahi, Elahi, & Chen, 2009), and dystonia (Schneider et al., 2010) has been investigated. The TMS modality is considered a prominent neurophysiological tool for the diagnosis of the integrity of corticospinal pathways (Groppa et al., 2012) and investigation of the brain plasticity in humans as in the experimental paired associative stimulation (PAS) paradigm (Muller-Dahlhaus et al., 2010).



Simplified scheme of mechanism of action of TMS of the motor cortex

Figure 1.1 Mechanism of action of TMS of the motor cortex. *Source: (Klomjai et al., 2015).*

1.2.1 Paired Associative Stimulation

One of the most used noninvasive brain stimulation paradigms to modulate cortical excitability is PAS. This paradigm combines the electrical stimulation of the peripheral nerve and the central stimulation of the motor cortex by the TMS in order to investigate synaptic plasticity in humans at the system level. Since it was introduced by Stefan and colleagues (2000), this technique has been studied extensively for its ability to modulate corticospinal excitability, which might help in the restoration of motor functions in persons who have experienced strokes (Borich, Wolf, Tan, & Palmer, 2018; Castel-Lacanal, Gerdelat-Mas, Marque, Loubinoux, & Simonetta-Moreau, 2007).

This experimental paradigm is thought to follow a type of spike-timing dependent plasticity (Muller-Dahlhaus et al., 2010). This is because PAS induces bidirectional changes in the corticospinal excitability that are dependent on the activation order of the received stimulation. Hence, when the TMS pulse is delivered after the arrival of an afferent volley, an increase in the MEPs amplitude can be observed in the M1, leading to an LTP-like effect (Stefan et al., 2000). In the original PAS study by Stefan et al. (2000), an ISI of 25ms between the electrical stimulation and TMS was found to induce this LTP-like effect. This was established based on the assumption that the conduction time of the afferent volley in reaching the somatosensory cortex would be 20 ms and then 3 ms for the information to be conveyed to M1 (see Figure 1.2). On the other hand, if the sequence of events is reversed, so that the TMS of M1 is activated before the arrival of the afferent volley, a decrease in the corticospinal excitability is noted. This is believed to resemble LTD-like plasticity changes.



Figure 1.2 Schematic view of the PAS protocol: PAS consists of medial nerve electrical stimulation paired with a TMS pulse with 25ms ISI. The MEPs were elicited by TMS only before (pre) and immediately after (post) the intervention (IPAS). An increase in the MEPs amplitude measured from abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle is noted following the PAS protocol.

Source: (Stefan et al., 2000).

Several studies have investigated the site at which PAS-induced excitability changes occurs. The effects induced by PAS are widely believed to occur at the level of the cortex. This is evident, as the application of PAS does not have any modulatory changes on the F-wave, which is considered an indicator of spinal motor neuron excitability (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2007; Stefan et al., 2000).

However, administrating PAS at rest is not always effective in inducing changes in corticospinal excitability (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2007; M. R. Kamke, A. S. Nydam, M. V. Sale, & J. B. Mattingley, 2016). Therefore, some researchers used modified PAS protocols

to augment PAS-induced changes. For instance, Kujirai et al. (2006) found that introducing minimal contraction (5% maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) of the PAS targeted first dorsal interosseous muscle (FDI) muscle accelerated the induced PAS modulatory effect (Kujirai, Kujirai, Sinkjaer, & Rothwell, 2006). In their PAS combined with muscle contraction protocol, only 50 stimulation pairs were sufficient to induce an LTP-like increase in the MEPs while conventional PAS at rest needed at least 90 pairs to induce the same effect. Moreover, Mrachacz-Kersting et al. (2007) compared the outcomes of applying PAS during dorsiflexion to applying PAS at rest (Mrachacz-Kersting, Fong, Murphy, & Sinkjaer, 2007). They found that PAS delivered during active dorsiflexion elicited significant increases in average MEPs following PAS, while PAS at rest did not induce notable changes.

Furthermore, based on the same time-dependency plasticity concept, others successfully induced corticospinal plasticity changes by pairing voluntary muscle contraction (instead of artificial peripheral stimulation of the targeted muscle) and TMS pulse over M1 or with peripheral electrical stimulation to the targeted muscle (Edwardson, Avery, & Fetz, 2014; Thabit et al., 2010). This type of stimulation, like PAS, was found to have inter-stimulus, time-dependent, and bidirectional induced effects. In a study by Thabit et al. (2010) the movement-related cortical stimulation (MRCS) protocol led to an increase of cortical excitability when the TMS pulse over M1 was 50 ms before the estimated abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle activation. On the other hand, delivering TMS 100 ms after the estimated voluntary muscle activation led to a significant decrease in the APB MEPs after the intervention (Thabit et al., 2010).

Thus, enhancing PAS-induced corticospinal excitability changes in combination with voluntary muscle activation could be the result of decreasing in the activity cortical inhibitory circuitry (Kujirai et al., 2006). Voluntary muscle activation was found to be associated with a decrease in the excitability of intra-cortical inhibitory networks when evaluated through short-interval intracortical inhibition (SICI) (Ridding, Taylor, & Rothwell, 1995). Reducing the activity of inhibitory circuits within the M1 was suggested in order to augment the development of LTP-like effects (Stefan, Kunesch, Benecke, Cohen, & Classen, 2002).

CHAPTER 2

OBJECTIVE

With ~800,000 cases every year in the U.S., stroke is considered a major cause of disabilities in adults (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). The ability of the brain to reorganize in response to pathological or environmental changes is important for the recovery of motor functions after a stroke (Cramer et al., 2011). Following a stroke, the corticospinal excitability of the ipsilesional cortex has been found to be suppressed when compared to contralesional or in neurologically intact individuals (Stinear, Petoe, & Byblow, 2015). The re-establishment of lesioned corticospinal excitability has been associated with improved functional outcomes of the paretic limb (Pomeroy et al., 2011).

One promising adjuvant therapeutic approach to modulate corticospinal excitability in the primary motor cortex (M1) is paired associative stimulation (PAS). PAS has been described as a peripheral nerve stimulation paired with transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) of the M1 in a timing-dependent manner in order to induce Hebbian-like plasticity (Stefan et al., 2000). This repetitive paired stimulation induces bidirectional changes in M1 corticospinal excitability depending on the interval between the peripheral and central stimulation (Carson & Kennedy, 2013). However, the small effect size and high variability of the PAS intervention leads one to question its therapeutic potential (Lahr et al., 2016).

Furthermore, the ideal method for incorporating PAS into rehabilitative activities remains unknown. In this dissertation, we investigate different approaches that combine PAS with movement. Unlike the overwhelming majority of PAS studies, in which stimulation is delivered to flexor muscles of the hand, we focused on applying PAS to extensor muscles, which is more relevant for stroke rehabilitation (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2009). Rehabilitative interventions directed at enhancing wrist extensor muscles resulted in increased motor function post-stroke (Powell, Pandyan, Granat, Cameron, & Stott, 1999). The modulation of corticospinal excitability was assessed by TMS-elicited motor evoked potential (MEP) amplitude, which is a quantitative measure of corticospinal excitability (Bestmann & Krakauer, 2015).

In summary, the specific aims of this dissertation are as follows:

<u>Aim1:</u> To determine the optimal timing of triggering PAS over the contralateral motor cortex during unilateral hand movement in healthy people.

The majority of published PAS studies have investigated the modulation of corticospinal excitability while the targeted muscle is at rest (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2007; Fratello et al., 2006; Lahr et al., 2016; Stefan et al., 2000). Furthermore, introducing a slight isometric contraction of the targeted muscle during PAS has been shown to accelerate the induction of LTP-like plasticity and lessen the required number of stimulations compared to PAS at rest (Kujirai et al., 2006; Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2007). However, to our knowledge, no study has investigated the optimal timing of triggering PAS when combined with isotonic finger extension, which closely mimics motor training protocols used in stroke rehabilitation. Thus, for this study, noting the importance of temporal dependency of PAS and the changes in cortical activity associated with volitional movement (Kornhuber, 1965), we investigated the effect of PAS on M1 excitability when the stimuli are delivered during the preparation or execution phase of voluntary activation of the finger extensiors. This aimed to test the

hypothesis that triggering PAS during the different phases of contralateral hand movement could affect the direction of the PAS-induced effect.

<u>Aim 2:</u> To determine the optimal timing of triggering PAS over the ipsilateral motor cortex during unilateral hand movement in healthy people.

Combining PAS with the movement of the stimulated limb may further facilitate the corticospinal excitability. However, stroke individuals with a moderate to severe motor function may not be able to engage in the necessary repetitive voluntary movements of the paretic limb. We investigated the effects of PAS delivered during movement of the opposite hand on corticospinal excitability of the hemisphere ipsilateral to the moving hand. Critical to the effective application of contralaterally coordinated PAS (ccPAS) might be the timing of the stimuli relative to voluntary activation, as ipsilateral M1 excitability during unilateral hand movement is known to vary with the movement phase (Beaule, Tremblay, & Theoret, 2012). Therefore, we specifically explored the impact of the timing of PAS delivery relative to the onset of contralateral hand extension on M1 excitability as measured by MEP amplitude. This tested the hypothesis that triggering ccPAS during the execution phase of contralateral M1.

<u>Aim 3:</u> To investigate the feasibility of enhancing the specificity of PASinduced effects through the simultaneous application of facilitatory PAS to hand agonist muscles and inhibitory PAS to hand antagonist muscles while at rest in healthy people.

It is widely believed that PAS-induced effects are topographically specific to the muscles innervated by the peripherally stimulated nerve. Other studies describe PAS-induced effects spreading to surrounding muscles that are not being innervated by the stimulated peripheral nerve (see review (Carson & Kennedy, 2013)). In PAS protocols, inter-stimulus interval (ISI) of 25 ms between peripheral and central stimulation (PAS25) induces an increase in the MEP amplitudes of the targeted muscle that is associated with an increase of MEP amplitudes acquired from other untargeted muscles (Stefan et al., 2000). On the other hand, an ISI of 10 ms (PAS10) leads to a reduction in the MEP amplitudes of the PAS targeted muscle that is accompanied with an increase in MEP amplitudes of muscles that are not innervated by the targeted nerve (Wolters et al., 2003). Thus, we investigated the ability to augment the PAS-induced corticospinal excitability and/or its specificity effect by simultaneously targeting the finger extensors with PAS25 and flexors with PAS10 (dual-PAS). This tested the hypothesis that dual-PAS may increase the MEP amplitudes of finger extensors and decrease the MEP amplitudes in finger flexors.

<u>Aim 4:</u> To explore the feasibility of combining PAS with voluntary movement in persons with chronic stroke (a preliminary investigation).

Conventional PAS has previously been demonstrated as effective in inducing a short-term increase of corticospinal excitability in stroke patients (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2007; Fratello et al., 2006). In addition, improvement in motor functions as a result of traditional intensive task-specific training has been associated with an increase in the cortical excitability of the lesioned M1 post-stroke (Tarkka, Könönen, Pitkänen, Sivenius, & Mervaala, 2008). It has been suggested that functional recovery could be augmented through a combination of rehabilitative training and neuromodulatory techniques (Hoyer & Celnik, 2011). In this feasibility study, we examined whether

combining PAS with a contralesional or ipsilesional task-specific movement would conform to PAS-induced effects obtained from Aim1 and Aim 2. This approach was used to test the hypothesis that triggering PAS during the execution phase of the paretic or nonparetic hand movement might facilitate the PAS-stimulated ipsilesional M1 for people with stroke.

CHAPTER 3

THE DIRECTION OF PAS-INDUCED MODULATION OF CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY DEPENDS ON TIMING BETWEEN STIMULATION AND MOVEMENT ONSET

3.1 Abstract

Paired associative stimulation (PAS) is a recognized technique to induce neuroplastic changes in the human motor cortex (M1). PAS modulates cortical excitability by pairing peripheral nerve stimulation with TMS of M1 in a timing-dependent manner to induce Hebbian-like plasticity. To date, PAS is most often performed with the subject at rest. A key question about how to combine PAS and voluntary movement is the timing of stimuli with respect to muscle activation onset. In this study, we investigate the effect of PAS on M1 excitability when the stimuli are delivered during the preparation or execution of a voluntary movement. Sixteen healthy right-handed subjects participated in the experiment. Prior to each session, 20 trials were conducted without stimulation in order to compute the mean reaction time (RT) for timing the stimulation during PAS. Subjects were instructed to extend their right fingers, activating the extensor digitorum communis (EDC) in response to a visual cue. Each PAS session consisted of 240 pairs applied at a rate of 0.2 Hz. All subjects completed the following three PAS sessions triggering the TMS: 1) during movement preparation (PAS RT-100ms), 2) during movement execution (PAS RT+50ms), and 3) conventional PAS at rest. Transcranial magnetic stimulation-induced motor evoked potentials (MEPs) were measured in the muscles of interest prior to and following the intervention to assess changes in corticospinal excitability. The MEP amplitudes were used for the statistical analysis. PAS triggered during voluntary contraction (RT+50) or at rest increased excitability, while PAS delivered at the same inter-stimulus interval during movement preparation (PAS RT-100) decreased excitability. Additionally, these changes were significant only for the targeted EDC muscle and not the flexor digitorum superficialis (FDS), indicating a muscle-specific effect. Unlike most PAS studies, our focus was on hand extensors for their rehabilitative importance. The results of this investigation suggest that the direction PAS-induced plasticity was dependent on the order of stimulation and voluntary movement onset. These findings have important implications for the incorporation of PAS into neuromotor rehabilitative training. Future investigations should explore the underlying neurophysiological mechanisms and possible clinical applications.

3.2 Introduction

In the last two decades, a strong interest has developed around using non-invasive brain stimulation approaches as they have demonstrated promising results in modulating the brain corticospinal excitability with long-lasting effects (Kubis, 2016). One promising adjuvant rehabilitative intervention is paired associative stimulation (PAS). The repetitive paired stimulation has been found to induce long-lasting, muscle specific, bidirectional changes in M1 cortical excitability depending on the interval between the peripheral and central stimulation (Suppa et al., 2017). Previous literature suggests that PAS-induced effects are temporally dependent. Several studies of the upper extremity have demonstrated that if a single pulse of peripheral electrical stimulation precedes a TMS pulse delivered over the representative area of the contralateral M1 by 20 to 25 ms, an increase in M1 cortical excitability represented as an increase in the motor evoked potentials (MEPs) following PAS is achieved. This induced change appears to cause a type of long-term-
potentiation (LTP-like) effect (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2007; Stefan et al., 2000). On the other hand, a decrease in the cortical excitability can be induced with the use of an intra-stimulus interval (ISI) of 10 ms, during which the TMS stimulation occurs before the arrival of the afferent stimulation to M1, leading to long-term depression (LTD)-like phenomena (Wolters et al., 2003). The majority of previous PAS studies have investigated the ability of PAS to modulate M1 excitability while the targeted muscle is at rest (Fratello et al., 2006; Stefan et al., 2000).

Based on the same time-dependent plasticity concept examining PAS, other researchers have successfully induced short-term cortical plasticity by pairing voluntary muscle contraction (instead of artificial peripheral stimulation of the targeted muscle) with TMS pulse over M1 or with peripheral electrical stimulation to the targeted muscle (Jochumsen et al., 2016; Thabit et al., 2010). These alternate approaches to paired stimulation, like conventional PAS, have been found to have inter-stimulus time-dependent effects. In a study by Thabit et al. (2010), movement-related cortical stimulation (MRCS) protocol led to an increase of cortical excitability when the TMS pulse over M1 was delivered 50ms before the estimated abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle activation. On the other hand, delivering the TMS pulse 100 ms after the estimated voluntary muscle activation led to a significant decrease in the APB MEPs after the intervention (Thabit et al., 2010).

Few studies have investigated the effect of delivering PAS during minimal isometric voluntary activation of the targeted muscle compared with PAS at rest. Studies combining PAS with voluntary activation of the targeted muscle suggest that the addition of voluntary activation results in a greater increase in corticospinal excitability and greater

consistency of effects across subjects compared to PAS delivered at rest (Khaslavskaia & Sinkjaer, 2005; Kujirai et al., 2006; Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2007).

That said, the optimal method for incorporating PAS into rehabilitative activities remains unknown. To our knowledge, no study has yet investigated the optimal timing of triggering PAS when combined with isotonic volitional movement. Thus, in this study, noting the importance of temporal dependency in PAS and temporal pattern of cortical activity in relation to movements, we aimed to investigate the effect of PAS on M1 corticospinal excitability when the stimuli are delivered during the preparation or execution phase of a voluntary activation of the extensor digitorum communis (EDC) muscle. Unlike the overwhelming majority of PAS studies where stimulation was delivered to flexor muscles of the hand, we focused on PAS of the extensors, which is more relevant for stroke rehabilitation (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2009). The modulation of corticospinal excitability was assessed by TMS-elicited motor evoked potential (MEP) amplitudes. We hypothesized that PAS triggered during different phases of voluntary activation would differentially effect the direction and amplitude of intervention-induced modulation of excitability and that this effect would be muscle-specific.

3.3 Material and Methods

3.3.1 Participants

Sixteen subjects participated in all study conditions (11 male and 5 female; mean age 25.37 ± 3.10 years; range 23–34 years). All subjects were right-handed as determined by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). Participants were neurologically

intact, provided written consents, and completed the study protocol that was approved by the Institutional Review Board of New Jersey Institute of Technology and Rutgers University. The order of the PAS sessions was randomly assigned. Subjects completed all PAS sessions, which were assigned randomly and separated by a week to avoid any residual effects (Edwardson et al., 2014).

3.3.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording

The muscle activity (EMG) was recorded in all study conditions from the EDC muscle, and its antagonist, the flexor digitorum superficialis (FDS) muscle with the use of a wireless surface electrode (TrignoTM electrodes, Delsys Inc.) placed over each muscle belly. EMG signals were amplified (x1000) and band-pass filtered (10 – 300Hz), then digitized at a frequency of 1000 Hz. The EMG signals were then stored for further analysis to quantify reaction times and MEP amplitudes using a custom-built MATLAB analysis software.

3.3.3 Stimulation

3.3.3.1 Peripheral Electrical Stimulation. The EDC muscle was stimulated using a constant-current square-wave pulse of 1000µs duration (DS7A stimulator, Digitimer Ltd, Welwyn Garden City, UK) delivered through bipolar surface electrodes (3 cm apart) placed over the EDC muscle belly. The stimulation intensity was set to be 300% of the subject's perceptual threshold (Stefan et al., 2000).

3.3.3.2 Neuronavigated Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS). To ensure TMS precision, a canonical high-resolution anatomical MRI was co-registered with the subject's head for frameless neuro-navigation (Yarossi, Manuweera, Adamovich, & Tunik, 2017). Throughout testing, the TMS coil (Magstim Rapid2, Air Film) was held tangentially

to the scalp with the handle posterior 45° off the sagittal plane. Following a rough mapping in order to determine the hotspot for the right EDC muscle in M1, the resting motor threshold (RMT) was defined as the minimum intensity required to elicit MEPs >50 μ V in the EDC muscle in three of six consecutive trials (Butler, Kahn, Wolf, & Weiss, 2005; Yarossi et al., 2017). The TMS intensity was then set to be 120% of RMT intensity throughout all sessions (Mrachacz-Kersting & Stevenson, 2017).

3.3.3.3 Paired Associative Stimulation (PAS). The PAS stimulation protocol used in all three sessions consisted of 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the right EDC muscle (300% perceptual threshold) followed by TMS pulse delivered the contralateral M1 at an inter-stimulus interval of 25ms. The PAS stimulation rate was set to be at 0.2 Hz, as it was found to be the most effective frequency in inducing the LTP effect in the motor cortex (Wischnewski & Schutter, 2016).

3.3.4 Experimental protocol

3.3.4.1 Setup. Participants were seated in a comfortable reclining chair with their hands and forearms resting on the armrests. Subjects were instructed to remain relaxed and focus their attention on the targeted EDC muscle and presented visual cues on the screen in front of them. Following the determination of each subject's RMT, peripheral electrical stimulation threshold, and mean reaction time (RT), subjects were instructed to keep focused for the "Move" visual cues and to respond with an immediate extension of their right-hand fingers without activating their wrist muscles, hold their contraction, and then return to their relaxed position once "Relax" cues were presented (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 PAS protocol setup: 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the right EDC muscle followed by TMS stimulation over the identified EDC hotspot at a rate of 0.2 Hz. In PAS at rest, subjects were instructed to relax both hands at all times (no cues were presented). In conditions where PAS was combined with hand movement, subjects were engaged in an identical hand extension task to the one described for determination of the reaction time.

3.3.4.2 Task

3.3.4.2.1 Behavioral task. In a simple reaction time paradigm, before each PAS session, subjects were instructed to rapidly extend the fingers of the right hand in response to a visual cue (Move), pause, and return (Relax) to a resting posture. Twenty trials at a rate of 0.2 Hz were conducted without stimulation to compute the mean RT for timing the stimulation during PAS.

3.3.4.2.2 During PAS intervention task. In both (PAS RT-100) and (PAS RT+50) in all 240 trials, subjects were asked to follow the exact instructions that were given during

the behavioral simple reaction time task. Subjects reacted to a visual cue "Move" by extending their right-hand fingers, paused, and then relaxed while their movement was simulated simultaneously on the screen (Figure 3.1). In each trial, a single TMS pulse was delivered to the predefined EDC hotspot 25 ms following the peripheral electrical stimulation directed to the EDC muscle.

3.3.4.3 Experimental conditions. As this research focused on investigating the effect of the phase of the volitional movement on the induced PAS effect, the investigation consisted of three PAS conditions. Following the determination of the subject's finger extension mean RT, the TMS in the PAS intervention was set to be triggered during 1- the movement preparation phase, when the TMS pulse in each trial preceded the subject's mean RT by 100ms (PAS RT-100); 2- during the movement execution phase, when the TMS pulse was delivered 50ms after the movement onset of a unilateral fingers extension, and 3- during PAS at rest (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Stimulation timing relative to subject's RT for one trial in: 1) PAS RT-100, 2) PAS RT+50, and 3) Conventional PAS with both hands at rest. The ISI was always fixed at 25ms.

3.3.5 Determination of reaction time

EMG signals were filtered using a band-pass filter (10-300 Hz) and then rectified off-line with the use of a custom-built Matlab software. Following baseline removal and rectifying, EMG envelopes were generated by a root mean square (RMS) filter. The RT was quantified as the EMG onset, calculated as the time point when EMG activity exceeded three standard deviations above the baseline amplitude (taken as the mean of 1000 ms window prior to the "Move" cue) (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 EMG envelop of EDC muscle in response to a move cue (blue). Movement onset is marked (X) as the first time point to exceed the threshold (red line) of three standard deviations from averaged baseline (taken as the mean of 1000 ms window prior to "Move" cue)

3.3.6 Data Analysis

3.3.6.1 Cortical excitability assessment. To evaluate cortical excitability, in a block of 20 trials, the peak-to-peak MEP amplitudes were quantified and averaged for both EDC and FDS muscles before (PRE) and immediately after each session (POST). The MEP amplitude was calculated as the peak-to-peak amplitude of the EMG signal 20 to 50ms following the TMS pulse. Individual MEPs were excluded if the MEP amplitude exceeded three standard deviations of the block average (Yarossi et al., 2017). MEPs were analyzed using rmANOVA with factors of Condition (PAS RT-100, PAS RT+50, and PAS at rest) and Time (PRE and POST). The Greenhouse–Geisser correction was used to adjust for violations of sphericity. Condition X Time interaction was considered significant at p < 0.05. Post-hoc pairwise comparisons (paired-samples t-tests) were conducted using Bonferonni correction with alpha adjusted to 0.0167 to protect significance.

Additionally, POST MEP values normalized to PRE were analyzed with a one-way ANOVA with a within-subjects factor Condition to determine whether PAS-induced changes in MEP amplitude were significant.

3.4 Results

Condition	RMT (% MSO)	Test pulse (% MSO)	Electrical stimulation (300% of perceptual level) (mA)
PAS RT-100	59.88 ± 8.91	71.85 ± 10.69	3.78 ± 2.81
PAS RT+50	57.9 ± 8.47	69.45 ± 10.16	3.60 ± 2.39
PAS at rest	60.75 ± 9.59	72.9 ± 11.50582	3.00 ± 2.47

Table 3.1 Stimulation parameters. (Means \pm SD)

MSO: Maximum stimulator output

3.4.1 Session to session within-subject variability

To ensure a stable and comparable cortical excitability baseline across sessions, a 1x3 rmANOVA for each individual muscle with a factor of Condition (PAS RT-100, PAS RT+50, and PAS at rest) was conducted on the amplitude of MEPs. Results of the rmANOVA confirmed no effect of Condition on the EDC muscle (F(2,30)=1.39, p=0.26) nor on the FDS muscle (F(2,30)=1.32, p=0.28).

3.4.2 During PAS, TMS timing relative to reaction time

The mean per-trial timing of the TMS pulse relative to the per-trial RT for the PAS sessions with volitional movements was -121.83 ms (SD: 37.36) for the PAS RT-100 condition and 42.18 ms (SD: 26.98) for the PAS RT+50 session.

3.4.3 Changes in MEPs amplitude following PAS

3.4.3.1 Changes in the targeted EDC muscle. A two-way rmANOVA revealed a significant Condition (PAS RT-100, PAS RT-50, and PAS at rest) x Time (PRE, POST) interaction for the stimulation-targeted EDC (F(2,30)=16.36, p<0.001). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons (paired-samples t-tests, with Bonferroni correction) revealed that triggering the TMS during unilateral finger extension (PAS RT+50) (t(15)=-3.76, p=0.002) and while at rest (PAS at rest) (t(15)=-3.12, p=0.007) both significantly increased the MEPs of the targeted EDC muscle. Applying the TMS during the movement preparation phase (PAS RT-100) led to a significant decrease (t(15)=3.466, p=0.003) in the MEP amplitudes of EDC (see Figure 3.4).

The repeated measures ANOVA of the POST MEPs normalized to baseline revealed a significant effect of Condition on the PAS-targeted EDC muscle (F(2,30)= 22.16, p= 0.0005). Paired t-test analyses of normalized MEP changes for PAS RT+50 and PAS RT-100 compared to PAS at rest were conducted. The corticospinal excitability decreased significantly after PAS in the PAS RT-100 condition when compared to PAS at rest (t(15)= -5.78, p= 0.001), while there were no significant differences after PAS in the PAS RT+50 condition compared to PAS delivered at rest (t(15)= 1.06, p= 0.31) (see Figure 3.5).

■PRE ■POST



Figure 3.4 Effect of PAS on MEP amplitudes (Mean±SEM) of the right EDC muscle before (PRE) and after (POST) PAS. A significant decrease was observed when the TMS was triggered 50ms before the estimated RT, while a significant increase was observed when TMS was delivered 50ms after the movement onset as well as in the PAS at rest condition. (Paired t-test, *p<0.01).



Figure 3.5 Mean change in MEP amplitude relative to the baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition. Individual responses relative to their baseline are presented for each condition. * p<0.05

3.4.3.2 Changes in the untargeted antagonist FDS muscle. A two-way

rmANOVA demonstrated no significant interaction condition with time for the untargeted

FDS (F(2,30)=0.191, p=0.827) (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6 Effect of PAS on MEP amplitudes (Mean±SEM) of the right FDS muscle before (PRE) and after (POST) PAS. No significant changes were seen.

3.4.4 Changes in reaction time (RT). A 2x3 rmANOVA for EDC muscle of the computed reaction time (RT) for each PAS session with factors of TIME (PRE and POST) and CONDITION (PAS RT-100, PAS RT+50 and PAS at rest) revealed no significant main effect of Condition (F(2,30)=1.61, p=0.22) nor Time (F(1,30)=1.12, p=0.32). Additionally, interaction of Condition X Time was not significant (F(2,30)=0.1, p=0.81) (Figure 3.7)



Figure 3.7 Effect of PAS on reaction time (Mean±SEM) of the right EDC muscle before (PRE) and after (POST) each PAS session. No significant changes were seen.

3.5 Discussion

Using our approach to pair PAS with visually guided movement, triggering PAS during the execution phase (PAS RT+50) led to an increase in the cortical projection of the EDC muscle (Mean $34.23\% \pm$ SD: 28.38). This is in line with other studies that used PAS with used PAS combined with isometric muscle contraction (Kujirai et al., 2006; Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2007). Additionally, conducting conventional PAS while the targeted muscle is at rest also led to an increase in the cortical excitability for the targeted EDC muscle (Mean: $24.48\% \pm$ SD: 25.36) (Figure 3.5).

Interestingly, despite the fact that we implemented an ISI of 25 ms between the peripheral and central stimulation, which is known to have a facilitatory effect, triggering

PAS during the movement preparation phase (PAS RT-100) led to a decrease in the cortical excitability of the targeted EDC muscle in 15 out of the 16 subjects (Mean: -20.25%± SD: 15.71) (Figure 3.5). Thus, these bidirectional induced changes in the corticospinal excitability reemphasize the importance of the presynaptic to postsynaptic activation timing and suggest that the timing of stimulation relative to the onset of muscle activity is crucial when PAS is combined with movement.

It was previously demonstrated by Kujirai and colleagues (2006) that introducing a slight tonic contraction of the targeted muscle during PAS accelerates the induction of LTP-like plasticity and lessens the required number of stimulation pairs compared to PAS at rest. Additionally, a modified PAS protocol that paired peripheral electrical stimulation to different phases of cortical potentials recorded during the motor imaginary task, was found to be effective in inducing LTP-like plasticity changes in M1 only when the peripheral stimulation was set to be triggered during the movement execution phase (Mrachacz-Kersting, Kristensen, Niazi, & Farina, 2012). Possible neural mechanisms that might be enhancing the LTP-like effect when PAS is delivered during the execution phase could be related to the increase in size and number of descending volleys as measured by I-waves during muscle contraction (V. Di Lazzaro et al., 1998; Kujirai et al., 2006). Moreover, the reduction of intracortical inhibition as measured by short intracortical inhibition (SICI) within M1 seen during voluntary contraction of the targeted muscle could enhance the development of LTP-like PAS-induced effect (Ridding et al., 1995; Stefan et al., 2002). The voluntary activation of the PAS targeted muscle provides additional afferent feedback that was found to be vital in inducing plasticity changes (Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2007).

One neural mechanism that could explain our finding that triggering PAS during the preparation phase of a simple task leads to the LTD-like effect could be related to the temporal changes in the M1 excitability before movement onset. The M1 cortical activity is known to be changing based on the movement phase, as seen in different physiological studies (Chen & Hallett, 1999). Studies that monitored the movement-related cortical potentials (MRCPs) and more specifically, its initial slope motor potential component (MP), found an increase in the cortical excitability of M1, 50-100 ms before the EMG onset (Chen & Hallett, 1999). This was also supported by TMS and transcranial electrical stimulation (TES) in which the MEP amplitudes started to increase above baseline around 80 ms before the EMG onset (Chen, Yaseen, Cohen, & Hallett, 1998; Rossini, Zarola, Stalberg, & Caramia, 1988; Starr, Caramia, Zarola, & Rossini, 1988). In PAS, the induced excitability changes are believed to be analogous to spike-timing-dependent plasticity (STDP) in which the direction of the induced effects depends on the activation order of presynaptic and postsynaptic neural activity within a time window (Carson & Kennedy, 2013; Stefan et al., 2002; Stefan et al., 2000; Wolters et al., 2003). Thus, the LTP-like effect could be induced in the human cortex when the timing of stimulation is set so that the afferent volley arrives at the M1 exactly at or shortly before the activation of M1 by TMS. On the other hand, if the order of events is reversed, an LTD-like effect is induced. We believe that the LTD-like effect that resulted when PAS was applied before the EMG onset (PAS RT-100) might be happening because the cortical activity of M1 (postsynaptic) had already started to rise before the arrival of the ascending afferent volley of PAS.

Another candidate neural mechanism that might explain the development of LTDlike effect, seen when PAS₂₅ is triggered during the preparation phase of an intended movement, could be the result of increased neural suppression of local motor circuits. It is believed that the preparation of a movement is accomplished by changes in M1 cortical activities. Numerous studies have reported the overall increase in M1 excitability during the preparation phase of a movement and that, associated with a decrease in cortical inhibition, directed towards the cortical neural population responsible of the movement (Floeter & Rothwell, 1999; Reynolds & Ashby, 1999). However, a recent animal study investigated the relationship between the modulation of cortical activities and motor performance in mice at the circuit level (Hasegawa et al., 2017). By implementing a delayed reach task and calcium-imaging technique during the preparation phase, this study was able to identify a different subpopulation of neurons whose activity was suppressed and other that maintained its increased activity during that period. This neural activity pattern correlated with improved motor performance as quantified by RT. Consequently, applying PAS during the preparatory phase of an intended movement might have interfered with this increased inhibitory mechanism.

We are the first to investigate the optimum timing window of delivering the paired artificial stimulation in PAS when combined with dynamic voluntary activation of the targeted muscle in a reaction time setup. Compared to other studies that incorporated minimal static voluntary muscle activation with PAS (Kujirai et al., 2006; Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2007), we used a within-subject experimental design in order to better compare the induced intervention effects. This is due to the fact that PAS is found to be prone to inter-subject variability (Lahr et al., 2016). One limitation of this study that needs to be addressed in the future is monitoring the retention of the PAS-induced effects.

These findings have important implications for the incorporation of PAS into neuromotor rehabilitative training. Future investigations should explore possible clinical applications and the neurophysiological mechanisms governing the relationship between PAS-induced effects and movement-related cortical potentials by combining PAS and EEG.

CHAPTER 4

THE EFFECT OF THE MOVEMENT PHASE ON THE CONTRALATERALLY COORDINATED PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION-INDUCED EXCITABILITY IN HEALTHY INDIVISUALS

4.1 Abstract

Paired associative stimulation was found to increase corticospinal excitability (CSE), providing a promising adjuvant therapeutic approach for stroke. Combining PAS with the movement of the stimulated limb may further increase enhancement of CSE. However, individuals with moderate to severe stroke may not be able to engage in the necessary repetitive voluntary movements of the paretic limb. The objective of this study was to investigate the feasibility of contralaterally coordinated PAS (ccPAS) applied to the resting hand extensors during fast extension of the contralateral hand. A potential dependency of CSE modulation on the phase of the movement of the opposite hand was evaluated. Sixteen participants each completed three sessions: PAS applied to the resting right hand during the preparation phase of the extension of the contralateral (left) hand; PAS applied during the execution phase of the left-hand extension, and PAS applied with both hands at rest. Motor evoked potentials (MEPs) were evoked from the right extensor digitorum communis (EDC) and flexor digitorum superficialis (FDS) muscles prior to and immediately after each session. PAS-induced effects were monitored for one hour after each session. PAS delivered during the muscle contraction of the left hand, and PAS delivered at rest both increased the MEP amplitude in the right EDC. Delivering PAS during the preparation phase of the left-hand movement led to a decrease in the MEP amplitude measured in the right EDC muscle. We conclude that PAS-induced bidirectional changes in the amplitude of MEPs were dependent on the phase of the movement of the opposite hand.

4.2 Introduction

To date, there has been little success developing rehabilitative treatments designed to ameliorate moderate to severe paralysis of the hand caused by stroke. It has been hypothesized that treatments designed to enhance the excitability of the motor cortex may prove to be effective adjuvants to existing therapies. Task-oriented functional electrical stimulation (FES) has demonstrated promise in promoting functional recovery in stroke by combining FES and repetitive training of the affected limb (Dang, Chen, He, & Chen, 2017). However, combining FES with repetitive task practice of the affected limb may not be possible for those with severe impairments. Contralaterally controlled FES (ccFES), in which stroke patients use their unaffected hand to control the stimulation of the paretic limb, has been found to improve hand function and does not require functional movements of the affected hand, making it suitable for more impaired individuals. Though not explicitly tested, functional improvements due to ccFES are thought to be associated in part with the induction of increased cortical excitability via the temporal correlation between peripheral and central neural activity (Knutson, Gunzler, Wilson, & Chae, 2016; Knutson et al., 2012; Knutson, Harley, Hisel, Makowski, & Chae, 2014). In this case, central activity refers to activation generated by voluntary contraction; however, it is also possible to generate central activation through non-invasive transcranial stimulation.

Paired associative stimulation (PAS) refers to the pairing of electrical peripheral nerve stimulation with stimulation of the M1 via transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) (Stefan et al., 2000). Repetitive pairs of stimuli delivered in a single session have been found to result in changes in MEPs, indicating modulation of corticospinal excitability (CSE). The directionality of modulation of CSE induced by PAS has been shown to depend on the inter-stimulus interval (ISI) between the peripheral stimulation and the TMS pulse

(Carson & Kennedy, 2013). Importantly, the induction of excitability via PAS has been shown to be at least partially preserved in the lesioned hemisphere of patients post-stroke (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2009). To date, the majority of PAS studies have investigated the modulation of CSE while the targeted (for peripheral nerve stimulation) muscle is at rest (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2009; Stefan et al., 2000). Studies combining PAS with voluntary activation of the targeted muscle indicate the addition of voluntary activation results in a greater increase in CSE and greater consistency of effects across subjects compared to PAS delivered at rest (Kujirai et al., 2006; Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2007).

The purpose of this study is to investigate the effects of PAS delivered during the movement of the opposite hand on CSE of the hemisphere ipsilateral to the moving hand. Critical to the effective application of contralaterally coordinated (ccPAS) might be the timing of the stimuli relative to voluntary activation, as ipsilateral M1 excitability during a unilateral hand movement is known to vary with the movement phase (Leocani, Cohen, Wassermann, Ikoma, & Hallett, 2000). Therefore, we specifically investigated the impact of the timing of PAS delivery relative to the onset of contralateral hand extension on M1 excitability as measured by MEP amplitude in healthy individuals. This work was partially published as a conference proceeding (Alokaily, Yarossi, Fluet, Tunik, & Adamovich, 2018).

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Participants

Following screening for TMS contraindications (Rossi, Hallett, Rossini, & Pascual-Leone, 2011), sixteen young, right-handed, healthy adults (10M, 6F; mean age $23.56 \pm SD 2.63$ years; range 20–33 years) were recruited and consented in accordance with the Institutional

Review Boards of NJIT and Rutgers University. All participants completed all PAS sessions, which were assigned randomly and separated by one week to avoid any ordering or carry-over effects.

4.3.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording

Wireless surface electrodes (TrignoTM electrodes, Delsys Inc.) were placed over the left and right EDC and FDS muscles. EMG signals were amplified (x1000), band-pass filtered (10 – 300Hz), and digitized at a frequency of 1000 Hz. EMG signals were stored for further analysis to quantify the reaction time and MEP amplitude with the use of a custom-built MATLAB analysis software.

4.3.3 Stimulation

4.3.3.1 Peripheral electrical stimulation. The EDC muscle was stimulated with the use of a constant-current square-wave pulse of 1000µs duration (DS7A stimulator, Digitimer Ltd, Welwyn Garden City, UK) delivered through bipolar surface electrodes (3 cm apart) placed over the EDC muscle belly. The stimulation intensity was set to be 300% of the subject's perceptual threshold (Stefan et al., 2000).

4.3.3.2 Neuronavigated TMS. To assure TMS precision, a canonical highresolution anatomical MRI was co-registered with the subject's head for frameless neuronavigation. During testing, the TMS coil (Magstim Rapid 2, Air Film) was held tangentially to the scalp with the handle posterior 45° off the sagittal plane. Following a rough mapping to determine the hotspot for the right EDC muscle in M1, the resting motor threshold (RMT) was defined as the minimum intensity required to elicit MEPs $>50\mu$ V in the EDC muscle on three of six consecutive trials. The TMS intensity was then set for all sessions to be 120% of RMT intensity. **4.3.3.3 PAS.** The PAS protocol that was implemented in all the study conditions comprised 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the right EDC muscle followed by TMS pulse delivered to the contralateral (left) motor cortex M1 with the interstimulus interval of 25 ms (Stefan et al., 2000). The PAS stimulation rate was set to be 0.2 Hz based on previous evidence that this frequency is most effective for inducing the potentiation of M1 (Wischnewski & Schutter, 2016).

4.3.4 Experimental protocol

Participants were seated in a comfortable reclining chair with their hands and forearms rested on the armrests. All subjects were instructed to remain relaxed and focus their attention on words on a screen placed in front of them. Following the determination of stimulation parameters, subjects performed a simple reaction time task (25 trials) with the ipsilateral left hand. Starting in a relaxed position, subjects were instructed to respond to a visual cue ("Move") presented on the screen with immediate full extension of their left fingers (while minimizing activation of wrist muscles), hold the hand fully extended for about one to two seconds, then return to a relaxed posture at the appearance of a cue to "Relax." Following baseline removal and rectifying, EMG envelopes were generated by a root mean square (RMS) filter. The reaction time (RT) was quantified as the EMG onset, calculated as the time point when EMG activity exceeded three standard deviations above baseline amplitude (taken as the mean of 1000 ms window prior to the "Move" cue).

For all conditions, PAS was administrated on the right resting hand (Figure 4.1). In PAS at rest, subjects were instructed to relax their both hands at all times (no cues were presented). In conditions where PAS was combined with contralateral hand movement, subjects were engaged in an identical hand extension task to the one described for the determination of the reaction time. Using the predetermined RT, PAS was either delivered in 1) the contralateral movement preparation phase (the TMS pulse in each trial preceded the subject's mean RT by 100ms, ccPAS RT-100) or 2) the contralateral movement execution phase (the TMS pulse in each trial was delivered at 50ms following the subject's mean RT, ccPAS RT+50) (Figure 4.2). To assess changes in CSE, 20 MEPs were collected before (PRE) and directly following (POST) the PAS session.



Figure 4.1 Experimental protocol: 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the right resting EDC muscle (R-EDC) followed by TMS stimulation over the identified EDC hotspot at rate of 0.2 Hz. For PAS interventions that required left EDC (L-EDC) movements, participants were instructed to extend their left-hand fingers in response to the visual cue (Move), and then relax according to the visual cue (Relax).

Source: (Alokaily et al., 2018).



Figure 4.2 Stimulation timing relative to subject's RT for one trial in: 1) ccPAS-100, in which TMS pulse was applied to the left ipsilateral M1 100 ms prior to the EMG onset of the left EDC muscle (L-EDC). 2) ccPAS+50, where TMS pulse was applied to the left M1 50 ms after the EMG onset of the L-EDC. 3) Conventional PAS at rest: Both hands at rest. In each of the three conditions, peripheral electrical stimulation was applied 25 ms before the TMS pulse. Electrical stimulation artifact was reduced using template subtraction method.

Source: (Alokaily et al., 2018).

4.3.5 Cortical excitability assessment

To evaluate changes in CSE in targeted EDC and untargeted FDS muscles, MEP amplitudes were calculated as the peak-to-peak amplitude of the EMG signal 20–50ms following the TMS pulse and averaged within collection blocks. Individual MEPs were excluded if the MEP amplitude exceeded three standard deviations of the block average (Yarossi et al., 2017).

4.3.6 Data analysis

To assess the induced PAS effect, we conducted a 3x5 rmANOVA using averaged MEP amplitudes as a dependent variable, separately for each of the two muscles. The ANOVA had within-subjects factors of Condition (PAS RT-100, PAS RT+50, Rest) and Time (PRE, POST, POST30, POST45, and POST60), with α =0.05. If necessary, the Greenhouse-Geisser method was used to correct for non-sphericity. Additionally, POST MEPs values normalized to PRE were analyzed with a one-way ANOVA with a within-subjects factor Condition to determine whether PAS-induced changes in MEP amplitude were significant. Post-hoc analysis was done using Holm-Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons.

4.4 Results

Condition	RMT (% MSO)	Test TMS pulse (% MSO)	Peripheral electrical stimulation (300% of perceptual level) (mA)
ccPAS RT-100	60.94 ± 9.42	73.13 ± 11.30	2.17 ± 1.27
ccPAS RT+50	60.69 ± 8.65	72.83 ± 10.39	2.34 ± 1.14
PAS at rest	59.88 ± 10.62	71.85 ± 12.74	2.41 ± 1.19

Table 4.1	Mean	Stimulation	Intensities.	(Means \pm SD)
10010 101	1.1.0.0011			(111000000000)

MSO: Maximum stimulator output

4.4.1 Session to session variability

To ensure stable and comparable cortical excitability baseline of subjects between sessions, one-way repeated measures ANOVA of the PRE MEPs with a factor of Condition (ccPAS RT-100, ccPAS RT+50, and Rest) was conducted for each muscle individually. Results confirmed no effect of Condition in the EDC (F(2,30) = 2.22, p=0.13) or FDS muscle (F(2,30) = 0.95, p = 0.36).

4.4.2 TMS pulse timing relative to the ipsilateral hand reaction time during PAS

The mean per-trial timing of the TMS pulse relative to the per-trial RT for the PAS sessions with ipsilateral hand movement was -80.30 ms (SD: 33.59) for ccPAS RT-100 condition and 48.67 ms (SD: 21.98) for the ccPAS RT+50 session. The mean RT during PAS sessions was 230.27 ms (SD: 46.81) for ccPAS RT-100 and 243.11 ms (SD: 25.78) for ccPAS RT+50.

4.4.3 Changes in MEPs amplitude following PAS

4.4.3.1 Changes due to PAS in the targeted right EDC muscle. The rmANOVA on the averaged MEP amplitudes revealed a significant Condition x Time interaction for the PAS-targeted EDC muscle (F(8, 120) = 4.54, p = 0.002) as well as a significant effect of Time (F(4, 60) = 4.45, p = 0.012) and no effect of Condition (F(2,30) = 2.11, p = 0.14). Two-tailed paired t-tests were used to compare MEPs between PRE and POST. There was a significant increase in the MEP amplitudes for ccPAS RT+50 (46.21 ± 9.34 %, t(15) = -4.37, p = 0.001). Conventional PAS at rest was also found to have a significant PRE to POST increase (21.57 ± 5.15 %), t(15) = -3.42, p = 0.004). For ccPAS RT-100, the paired t-test showed a significant PRE to POST decrease in average MEP amplitude (-18.41 ± 4.77%, t(15) = 3.48, p = 0.003).

Additionally, to assess the retention of each the PAS-induced corticospinal excitability changes, paired t-test were also conducted to compare each of after-PAS time point (POST30, POST45 and POST60) to its baseline (PRE). This revealed that ccPAS RT+50 PAS-induced effect remind significantly higher than baseline in the in POST30 (t(15) = -4.583, p = 0.0001) and POST45 (t(15) = -3.70, p = 0.002) and at POST60 (t(15) = -3.24, p = 0.005). PAS-Induced increase of excitability brought by conventional PAS at rest remained significantly higher than PRE at POST30 (t(15) = -3.14, p = 0.007) but not at POST60 (t(15) = -2.83, p = 0.013). Moreover, for ccPAS RT-100, there was no significant changes in the corticospinal excitability compared to PRE at POST30 (t(15) = 0.57, p = 0.58), POST45 (t(15)=1.06, p = 0.31) nor POST60 (t(15)=0.43, p =0.68). (Figure 4.3)

The one-way rmANOVA comparing PAS-induced effects across conditions after PAS (POST) revealed a significant main effect of Condition (F(2, 30) = 28.26, p = 0.001).

Follow up paired t-test analysis of normalized MEP changes for ccPAS RT+50 and ccPAS RT-100 compared to PAS at Rest were conducted. PAS-induced effect caused by ccPAS-100 was significantly less than those induced by PAS at rest (t(15)=6.26, p=0.001). On the other hand, PAS in the ccPAS RT+50 condition induced a larger increase in the corticospinal excitability than PAS delivered at rest (t(15)=-2.34, p=0.033).(Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.3 Mean change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10) over time (POST, POST30, POST45 ,and POST30) in the PAS targeted right EDC muscle: MEP decrease was observed when the TMS was triggered 100 ms before the estimated movement onset in the left EDC while MEP increase was observed when TMS was delivered 50ms after the estimated movement onset in the left EDC and persisted 45 minutes after termination of the session. Conventional PAS at Rest condition induced a significant increase in MEPs amplitudes following PAS session. *p<0.05



Figure 4.4 POST PAS-induced changes in the MEPs normalized to baseline (post/pre) in the EDC muscle. Triggering PAS during contralateral hand movement induced greater increase in the corticospinal excitability compared to conventional PAS at rest. (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01)

4.4.3.2 Changes due to PAS in the untargeted right FDS muscle. A 3x5

rmANOVA of the averaged MEP amplitudes in the right FDS muscle untargeted by PAS revealed a significant effect of Time (F(4, 60) = 6.07, p=0.008), but no significant effect of Condition (F(2, 30) = 0.83, p=0.41), nor significant Condition x Time interaction (F(8, 120) = 1.02, p=0.43).

Paired t-tests to compare PRE to POST, POST30, POST45, and POST60 changes in each condition were not significant when corrected for multiple comparisons. In ccPAS RT-100, paired t-tests to compare baseline measure (PRE) to POST (t(15) = -1.56, p=0.14), POST30 (t(15)=-2.25, p=0.04), POST45(t(15)=-2.13, p=0.05) and POST60 (t(15)=-1.35, p=0.20) showed no significant change. Moreover, ccPAS RT+50, paired t-tests to compare baseline measure (PRE) to POST (t(15)=-1.62, p = 0.13), POST30 (t(15)=-2.17, p=0.047), POST45(t(15)=-2.32, p=0.035) and POST60 (t(15)=-2.36, p=0.032). Finally, no significant changes in the FDS were found when the paired t-test of PRE was compared to POST (t(15) =-2.61, p=0.02), POST30 (t(15)=-2.82, p=0.013), POST45(t(15)=-3.00, p = 0.009) and POST60 (t(15)=-2.32, p=0.035) (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5 Group effect of PAS condition (ccPAS RT-100, ccPAS RT+50 and PAS at rest) on POSTs MEP amplitude relative to baseline (mean±SEM) after (POST) each PAS session and up to one hour of follow up (POST 30, POST45, POST60) in the PAS untargeted right FDS muscle. No significant changes were found.

4.5 Discussion

Inducing cortical excitability changes in M1 using PAS can be a promising therapeutic intervention for stroke functional recovery (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2009). This study aimed to determine the feasibility of inducing M1 excitability changes with ccPAS. This was investigated through an examination of the effect of delivering PAS stimuli during the preparation or execution phases of the contralateral hand movement on corticospinal excitability. Our results emphasize the key role of ipsilateral M1 activity during unilateral hand movements on PAS-induced effects. Triggering PAS during the execution of a contralateral hand movement led to a robust increase in the cortical excitability in the stimulated M1 (ipsilateral to the moving hand). Compared to administrating PAS at rest, excitability changes in M1 were significantly higher. These PAS corticospinal excitability changes could resemble an LTP-like (Stefan et al., 2002; Stefan et al., 2000). Interestingly, although a well-known facilitatory PAS protocol (with a 25ms between peripheral and central stimulation) was implemented, when PAS was delivered during the contralateral hand movement preparation phase, a decrease in the M1 excitability was found. This may indicate a paradoxical induction of long-term depression-like effects (LTD-like), usually associated with PAS protocols using 10ms ISI (Wolters et al., 2003). Possible neural mechanisms underlying these PAS-induced effects in the targeted M1 might be related to the temporal changes in the interhemispheric inhibition, which is directed from right M1 towards left M1. Several TMS and fMRI studies have reported the significant role of the ipsilateral motor cortex during a contralateral hand movement. The co-activation of the ipsilateral motor cortex is believed to have a key role in processing and controlling the unilateral movement. It has been shown that the activation of the ipsilateral motor cortex during a unilateral hand movement is being affected by several factors, such as movement phase, rhythm, and contraction level and task complexity (Beaule et al., 2012). In a simple reaction-time task, the resting ipsilateral M1 activity assessed with TMS undergoes deep inhibition 80 to 120ms before the initiation of unilateral hand movement, while the contralateral M1 activity increased (Leocani et al., 2000). As the movement is initiated, the MEPs of the ipsilateral hand were shown to increase when the contralateral homologues muscle was voluntarily contracted (Stedman, Davey, & Ellaway, 1998). Inhibition of the ipsilateral hemisphere during movement preparation followed by facilitation during execution may explain the effects seen in the current study.

Further investigations are needed to assess the feasibility of ccPAS in chronic stroke patients as they demonstrate interhemispheric imbalance (Dodd, Nair, & Prabhakaran, 2017). Resting and movement related power changes in cortical alpha and beta range oscillations have been previously linked to the modulation of MEP amplitude (Karabanov, Thielscher, & Siebner, 2016). Their role in ccPAS should be the subject of future investigations combining PAS and electroencephalography.

The findings of this feasibility study may have an important implication for the use of PAS applied during movement of the contralateral limb as an adjuvant therapy for severely impaired stroke patients. Further investigation into the underlying mechanisms and optimal parameters for administration of ccPAS should be considered.

CHAPTER 5

THE EFFECT OF APPLYING SIMULTANEOUS EXCITATORY AND INHIBITORY PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION PROTOCOLS ON CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY

5.1 Abstract

Paired associative stimulation (PAS) is one of the most intensively investigated experimental paradigms to study the Hebbian principles of synaptic plasticity in humans. PAS consists of repetitive pairing of peripheral electrical stimulation and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) of the M1. PAS induces bidirectional changes in the corticospinal excitability depending on the timing between the received stimuli. Although PAS-induced changes are often proposed as topographically specific to muscles innervated by the peripheral electrical stimulation, other PAS non-targeted muscles demonstrated an increase of their excitability with both facilitatory and inhibitory PAS. The objective of this study was to investigate the ability to augment the PAS-induced corticospinal excitability and/or its specificity effect by simultaneously targeting the finger extensors with PAS25 and flexors with PAS10 (dual-PAS). Eighteen volunteers each completed three sessions: facilitatory PAS25 targeted the extensor digitorum communis (EDC) muscle and the inhibitory PAS10 was applied to the flexor digitorum superficialis (FDS) and dual-PAS. Motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) were induced from the right EDC and FDS muscles prior to and immediately after each session. MEPs were also monitored for 30 minutes after each PAS session. Simultaneous application of facilitatory PAS to the hand extensor muscle and inhibitory PAS to the hand flexor muscle produced a consistent increase in the cortical excitability of the EDC muscle that lasted for at least 30 minitues and was only distinguishable in the EDC muscle.

5.2 Introduction

Recent advances in non-invasive brain stimulation tools and techniques have broadened our understanding of synaptic plasticity (Edwardson et al., 2014). At the systemic level, Stefan and others were able to induce cortical plasticity changes in the M1 using the PAS technique. Paired associative stimulation modulates cortical excitability by pairing peripheral nerve stimulation with TMS of M1 in a timing-dependent manner to induce Hebbian-like plasticity following the concept of spike-time dependent plasticity (Stefan et al., 2000). This repetitive paired stimulation has been demonstrated to induce long-lasting, muscle specific, bidirectional changes in M1 cortical excitability depending on the interval between the peripheral and central stimulation (Carson & Kennedy, 2013; Suppa et al., 2017).

In the PAS paradigm, it is well established that inter-stimulus interval (ISI) of 25 ms (PAS25) between peripheral and central stimulation leads to an increase in M1 cortical excitability. Thus, in PAS25, it is assumed that the peripheral stimulation evokes an afferent volley that reaches M1 synchronously or shortly before the trans-synaptic activation of corticospinal neurons caused by the TMS pulse (Muller-Dahlhaus et al., 2010). On the other hand, implementing a fixed ISI of 10 ms (PAS10), which causes the afferent signal to reach M1 after the TMS of corticospinal neurons, reduces M1 corticospinal excitability (Weise, Schramm, Beck, Reiners, & Classen, 2011; Wolters et al., 2003).

Paired associative stimulation-induced excitability changes are presumed to occur only at the muscles innervated by the nerve that is targeted by the peripheral electrical stimulation in PAS (Nitsche et al., 2007; Quartarone et al., 2008; M. C. Ridding & J. L. Taylor, 2001; Stefan et al., 2000; K. Stefan, M. Wycislo, & J. Classen, 2004). This is frequently termed "topographical specificity." However, a large volume of PAS literature reported PAS-induced excitability changes in muscle cortical representations that are not innervated by the electrical stimulation (Carson & Kennedy, 2013; Potter-Nerger et al., 2009). For instance, in the original cortical excitability enhancement study by Stefan et al. (2000), the electrical nerve stimulation in PAS was applied to the median nerve. Following the PAS session, MEPs recorded from the median nerve innervated abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle increased in comparison to the baseline. Although the results did not reach statistical significance, MEP amplitudes were obtained from the ulnar nerve innervated abductor digiti minimi (ADM) and the musculocutaneous nerve innervated biceps brachii (BB) muscles demonstrated a similar increasing trend. Additionally, when the PASinduced effect in the PAS-targeted APB muscle was compared to the induced effects in untargeted ADM muscle, the changes were not distinguishable (Stefan et al., 2000). This was also reported with different muscles in several other PAS25 studies (B. Elahi, Gunraj, & Chen, 2012; Quartarone et al., 2003; Quartarone et al., 2006; Rosenkranz & Rothwell, 2006).

The PAS inhibitory paradigm, PAS10, also demonstrated changes of the corticospinal excitability for muscles that are innervated by nerves that were not targeted by electrical stimulation (Weise et al., 2013; Weise et al., 2011; Weise et al., 2006). In the study by Kamke et al. (2014), for example, the independent application of PAS25 and PAS10 led to an increase of corticospinal excitability of PAS targeted muscle following PAS25 and diminution of corticospinal excitability after PAS10. Nevertheless, PAS-induced changes in both protocols were associated with an increase in corticospinal excitability in untargeted muscles (M. R. Kamke et al., 2014).
Several studies have investigated the ability to modulate cortical excitability through the alteration of afferent inputs. These changes were found to influence the inhibitory circuits within M1 (Ridding, Pearce, & Flavel, 2005). Additionally, these changes are considered to be topographically specific (Ridding & Rothwell, 1999). Muscle-specific changes brought by changes in afferent inputs might be crucial for focusing targeted muscle activation during movement. For example, in the study by Ridding et al. (2005), when appropriately timed, electrical stimulation of digit II led to a reduction of short intracortical inhibition (SICI) for the first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle, where no changes were found when measured from the ADM muscle. In contrast, when digit V was stimulated, SICI reduced in the ADM muscle only. This muscle-specific decrease in SICI might lead to an increase in the synaptic connection of targeted muscles, as was found during motor learning (Muellbacher, Ziemann, Boroojerdi, Cohen, & Hallett, 2001; Ridding et al., 2005).

Based on the topographical specificity of afferent inputs to the sensorimotor cortex, this study investigated the feasibility of further enhancing PAS-induced effects and/or their specificity by simultaneously targeting hand extensors with facilitatory PAS25 and flexors with inhibitory PAS10 (dual-PAS). This might be of therapeutic benefit for the reduction of spasticity in stroke patients as they demonstrate hypertonicity in flexor muscles (Marciniak, 2011; McIntyre et al., 2018).

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Participants

Following the screening for TMS contraindications (Rossi et al., 2011), eighteen young, right-handed, healthy adults (11M, 7F; mean age $24.06 \pm SD$ 1.95 years; range 20–27

years) were recruited and consented in accordance with the Institutional Review Boards of NJIT and Rutgers University. All participants completed all PAS sessions, which were assigned randomly and separated by one week to avoid any ordering or carry-over effects.

5.3.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording

Wireless surface electrodes (TrignoTM electrodes, Delsys Inc.) were placed over the left and right EDC and FDS muscles. EMG signals were amplified (x1000), band-pass filtered (10 – 300Hz), and digitized at a frequency of 1000 Hz. signals were stored for further analysis to quantify the reaction time and MEP amplitude using a custom-built MATLAB analysis software.

5.3.3 Stimulation

5.3.3.1 Peripheral Electrical Stimulation Depending on the PAS session, an electrical stimulation pulse was applied to EDC or/and FDS muscles. Electrical stimulation pulse with the use of a constant-current square-wave pulse of 1000µs duration (DS7A stimulator, Digitimer Ltd, Welwyn Garden City, UK). It was delivered through bipolar surface electrodes placed over the EDC or/and FDS muscles. The stimulation intensity was set to be 300% of the subjects' perceptual threshold (Stefan et al., 2000).

5.3.3.2 Neuronavigated Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS). In order to ensure TMS precision, a canonical high-resolution anatomical MRI was co-registered with the subject's head for frameless neuro-navigation. Throughout testing, the TMS coil (Magstim Rapid 2, Air Film) was held tangentially to the scalp with the handle posterior 45° off the sagittal plane. A rough mapping was conducted to determine the optimal hotspot that produced the largest and most consistent MEP in the right EDC and FDS muscles (M. R. Kamke et al., 2016). Following the definition of the resting motor threshold (RMT) as

the minimum intensity required to elicit MEPs $>50\mu$ V in the EDC muscle in three of six consecutive trials, the TMS intensity was then set to 120% of RMT intensity throughout all sessions.

5.3.3.3 Paired Associative Stimulation (PAS). The PAS protocol that was implemented in all the study conditions comprised 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the right EDC or/and FDS muscles followed by a TMS pulse delivered to the contralateral (left) motor cortex M1. The PAS stimulation rate was set to be 0.2 Hz based on previous evidence that this frequency is most effective for inducing the potentiation of M1 (Wischnewski & Schutter, 2016).

5.3.4 Experimental protocol

5.3.4.1 Setup. Participants were seated in a comfortable reclining chair with their hands and forearms rested on the armrests (Figure 5.1). All subjects were instructed to remain relaxed and focus their attention on the targeted muscles. Following the determination of the subject's RMT and peripheral electrical stimulation threshold, a baseline reading of corticospinal excitability was taken acquiring MEPs from both EDC and FDS muscles. Then, a PAS session was randomly assigned, followed by three measurement points in time to evaluate PAS-induced changes.

5.3.4.2 Experimental conditions. As this study aimed to explore the ability to induce both facilitatory and inhibitory PAS effects to different cortical representations, the investigation consisted of three PAS conditions. The PAS sessions were 1- conventional facilitatory PAS25 targeting the EDC muscle; 2-inhibitory PAS10 where the electrical stimulation was applied to the FDS muscle; and 3- dual-PAS, in which, one electrical stimulation pulse was applied to the EDC muscle, and another was applied to the FDS muscle followed by a single TMS pulse. These two electrical pulses in dual-PAS were

delivered to FDS and EDC muscles, 10 ms and 25 ms before the TMS pulse respectively. (Figure 5.1)



Figure 5.1 The experimental protocol comprising 240 pairs of stimulation, the peripheral electrical stimulation was applied to 1) the right EDC muscle (R-EDC) 25 ms prior to TMS stimulation over the hotspot (PAS25), 2) right FDS muscle (R-FDS) 10 ms before TMS pulse (PAS10), and 3) two electrical pulses in dual-PAS were delivered to FDS and EDC muscles, 10 ms and 25 ms before the TMS pulse respectively. The stimulation frequency was set at 0.2 Hz.

5.3.5 Cortical excitability assessment.

To evaluate the corticospinal excitability changes brought by PAS in EDC and FDS muscles, MEP amplitudes were calculated as the peak-to-peak amplitude of the EMG signal 20–50ms following the TMS pulse and averaged within each collection block (Macdonald, Skinner, Shils, & Yingling, 2013). Individual MEPs were excluded if the

MEP amplitude exceeded three standard deviations of the block average (Yarossi et al., 2017). Twenty MEPs were acquired before (PRE) and immediately after (POST), and then at two other points to monitor any retention of an effect 15 min (POST15) and 30 min (POST30) after each PAS session.

5.3.6 Data analysis

To assess the induced PAS effects, for each of the two muscles, a 3x4 repeated measure ANOVA using averaged MEP amplitudes as a dependent variable was conducted. The ANOVA was constructed with within-subjects factors of Condition (dual-PAS, PAS25, PAS10) and Time (PRE, POST, POST15, POST30). The Greenhouse–Geisser correction was used to adjust for violations of sphericity when needed. An α of 0.05 was used as a criterion for statistical significance.

5.4 Results

Table 5.1 Stimulation Parameters. (Means \pm SD)

Condition	RMT (% MSO)	Test TMS pulse (% MSO)	Peripheral electrical stimulation (300% of perceptual level) (mA)		
			PAS25	PAS10	
PAS25	59.80 ± 9.47	71.32 ± 11.46	2.45±1.04		
dual-PAS	60.50 ± 8.53	71.79 ± 10.05	2.87±1.82	2.09±1.02	
PAS10	59.65 ± 9.31	71.05 ± 11.17		1.58 ± 0.54	

MSO: Maximum stimulator output.

5.4.1 Session to session within-subject variability

In order for the study to ensure a stable and comparable cortical excitability baseline across sessions, a 1x3 rmANOVA for each individual muscle with a factor of the Condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10) was conducted on the amplitude of MEPs. Results of the rmANOVA confirmed no effect of Condition on EDC muscle MEPs (F(2,34)=0.47, p=0.56) or on FDS muscle MEPs (F(2,34)=1.31, p=0.28).

5.4.2 Changes in MEP amplitudes following PAS

5.4.2.1 Changes in the targeted EDC muscle. The rmANOVA on the averaged MEP amplitudes revealed a significant Condition X Time interaction (F(6,102) = 2.25, p=0.04) and a main effect of Time for the EDC muscle (F(3, 51)=3.84, p = 0.015), but there was no significant effect of the Condition (F(2,34)=3.19 p=0.082).

Two-tailed paired t-tests were used to compare MEP averages between PRE and POST measures. There was a significant increase in the MEP amplitudes for dual-PAS (t(17)=-3.51, p=0.003) at POST. Conventional PAS at rest was not found to experience a significant POST-to-PRE increase (t(17)=-1.05, p=0.031). For PAS10, the paired t-test demonstrated no significant PRE to POST changes in average EDC muscle MEP amplitude (t(17)=0.89, p=0.39).

Follow-up post-hoc paired t-tests with corrected alpha (Bonferroni-Holm) were also used to assess the retention of each of the PAS-induced corticospinal excitability changes between after-PAS time points (POST15, POST30) and their baseline (PRE). This revealed that dualPAS corticospinal excitability-induced effects remained significantly higher than the baseline at POST15 (t(17)=-3.31, p=0.004) or POST30 (t(17)=-3.61, p=0.002). On the other hand, changes in excitability brought by conventional PAS at rest were found to be unreliable compared to PRE at POST15 (t(17)=-1.13, p=0.28) or POST30 (t(17) =-2.08, p =0.053). Finally, for PAS10, there were no significant changes in the corticospinal excitability compared to PRE at POST15 (t(17) =0.17, p=0.87) or POST30 (t(17)=-0.83, p = 0.42) (See Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2 Mean \pm SEM change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10) over time (POST, POST15, and POST30).

5.4.2.2 Changes in the targeted FDS muscle. The rmANOVA on the average MEP amplitudes revealed a significant Condition x Time interaction for the FDS muscle (F(6, 102)=3.09, p=0.026), but there was no significant main effect of Condition (F(2, 34) =1.84, p=0.17) or Time (F(3,51) =0.55, p=0.54).

However, the follow-up post-hoc paired t-tests revealed no significant differences when compared to PRE for each of the conditions at the adjusted α . In the dual-PAS condition, no significant differences in the corticospinal excitability were found at POST (t(17)=1.62, p=0.12), POST15 (t(17)=0.83, p=0.42) or POST30 (t(17)=0.38, p=0.71). No differences were seen in the FDS muscle following PAS25 when POST, POST15, and POST30 were compared to PRE, (t(17)=-1.77, p=0.09), (t(17)=-1.85, p=0.08),and (t(17)=-2.47, p=0.024), respectively. Finally, as for PAS10, no differences were observed with the corrected α when we compared POST (t(19)=262, p=0.018), POST15 (t(17)=2.72, p=0.015), and POST30 (t(17)=2.08, p=0.053) with PRE (see Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3 Mean ±SEM change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the FDS muscle in each condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10) over time (POST, POST15, and POST30).

5.4.3 PAS-induced specificity effects. The three-way rmANOVA with factors of Condition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10), Time (POST, POST15, and POST30) and muscle (EDC and FDS) of normalized MEPs (POST/PRE) revealed a significant Condition X Muscle interaction (F(2,34)=4.78, p=0.015). Additionally, there were significant main effects of Condition (F(2,34)=6.50, p=0.004) and Muscle (F(1,17)=12.43, p=0.003). There was significant effect of Time (F(2,34)=1.15, p=0.33), or significant interaction between Condition X Time X Muscle (F(4,68)=0.51, p=0.73) nor Time X Muscle (F(2,34)=0.08, p=0.92).

Follow up paired t-tests contrasts between the PAS-induced effects in EDC and FDS muscles revealed a significant difference between the effects induced in the EDC muscle versus those in the FDS muscle (t(17)=4.36, p=0.0001) (Figure 5.4). There was no significant differences between muscles following cessation PAS25 (t(17)=-0.73, p=0.48) and PAS10 (t(17)=1.24, p=0.23).



Figure 5.4 Mean ±SEM change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC and FDS muscle immediately following each PAScondition (PAS25, dual-PAS, and PAS10). By using dual-PAS, the PAS-induced effects were significantly limited to the EDC muscle. (**p < 0.001)







Figure 5.5 The effect of PAS on MEP amplitudes (mean±SEM) before (PRE) and after (POST) PAS sessions up to 30 minutes follow-up (POST15, POST30) in the PAS-targeted right EDC and FDS muscles for PAS25(*top*), dual-PAS (*middle*), and PAS10 (*bottom*).

5.5 Discussion

Paired associative stimulation is a well-known experimental paradigm used to induce corticospinal changes in the M1. Many conventional PAS (PAS25 or PAS10) studies have identified increased MEPs in surrounding muscles, not innervated by the stimulated nerve. This makes the proposed PAS topographical specificity relative rather than absolute (Carson & Kennedy, 2013). The results of this study demonstrated that conventional application of facilitatory PAS25 to the EDC muscle increased the MEPs amplitude (average \pm SEM, $\pm 15.21 \pm 7.52\%$). However, this enhancement in corticospinal excitability was not found to be significant. This inconsistency of PAS-induced changes brought by PAS25 at the group level was also found in other studies in which PAS25 failed to induce reliable changes in M1 (Marc R Kamke, Abbey S Nydam, Martin V Sale, & Jason B Mattingley, 2016; López-Alonso, Cheeran, Río-Rodríguez, & Fernández-del-Olmo, 2014; Müller-Dahlhaus, Orekhov, Liu, & Ziemann, 2008).

For the inhibitory PAS10 that was directed towards the FDS muscle, we found a decreasing trend in MEPs acquired, measured based on the targeted PAS10 (average \pm SEM,-14.36 \pm 6.73%), which failed to reach significance.

However, as this study aimed to enhance the PAS-induced excitability effect and its specificity, the simultaneous application of PAS, targeting EDC muscle with PAS25 and FDS muscle with PAS10 (dual-PAS) led to a consistent and significant increase in the EDC corticospinal excitability. This was represented as an increase in the MEP amplitudes following dual-PAS (average \pm SEM, $+33.13\pm7.95$). For changes in the FDS muscle following dual-PAS, a decreasing trend (average \pm SEM, $-10.08\pm6.62\%$) was found, but this was not found to be statistically significant (Figure 5.3). Moreover, dual-PAS induced changes were found to be specific to the facilitatory PAS-targeted finger extensors muscle

(i.e. EDC). Conventional PAS25 and PAS10 induced changes in the EDC and FDS muscles that were not distinguishable. Thus, dual-PAS showed to induce confined changes in the corticospinal excitability which provide enhanced muscle specific effects.

One possible neural mechanism that could explain the changes brought by the simultaneous application of excitatory and inhibitory PAS could be the concept of STDP. In my STDP model, the relationship of pre- and post-synaptic activation determine the direction of induced plasticity (Muller-Dahlhaus et al., 2010). Therefore, when the afferent volley arrives at M1 before the TMS pulse (as in PAS25), a long-term potentiation-like effect is demonstrated as an increase in the overall corticospinal excitability(Stefan et al., 2000). On the other hand, the late arrival of the afferent volley to M1 (as in PAS10) leads to a long-term depression-like effect (Wolters et al., 2003).

In addition, since inhibitory changes caused by dual-PAS in the FDS muscle were not reliable, another mechanism that might better explain the observed effect could be related to activity-dependent plasticity (Carson & Kennedy, 2013; Marc R Kamke et al., 2016). The activity-dependent plasticity model, the increase of overall network activity is achieved via the convergence of spatial and temporal summation of inputs. (Marc R Kamke et al., 2016; Thickbroom, 2007)

Although responses were found to be highly variable among participants, this preliminary investigation suggests that applying both facilitatory and inhibitory PAS can lead to a consistent augmentation of corticospinal excitability in the extrinsic EDC muscle and a decreasing trend in the extrinsic FDS muscle. In comparison with a recent study that concurrently targeted separate intrinsic muscle representation with excitatory and inhibitory PAS protocol, we find that our results are in line with changes found in their concurrent PAS protocol being more consistent in enhancing corticospinal excitability than

conventional PAS alone (Marc R Kamke et al., 2016). However, in their concurrent PAS protocol (PAS25 to the median nerve and PAS10 to the ulnar nerve) the corticospinal excitability showed a significant increase in the PAS25 targeted FDI muscle (median nerve innervated) as well as an increasing trend in the ADM muscle (ulnar nerve innervated). In our protocol, we adopted a muscle-located electrical stimulation instead of the commonly used nerve-located stimulation. Given that we focused on two muscle representations that are agonist "EDC" and antagonist "FDS" muscles, there is a possibility that reciprocal inhibition might have played a role in the induced changes. However, this was not tested in this study.

In conclusion, the results of this study propose more reliable PAS-induced changes in the corticospinal excitability. Further studies are required to underpin the origin of these changes as short-intracortical inhibition was found to be altered following PAS10 but not PAS25 (Carson & Kennedy, 2013).

CHAPTER 6

THE PAIRD ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION INDUCED EFFECT COULD BE ENHANCED BY INTRODUCING CONTRALATERAL OR IPSILATERAL MUSCLE CONTRACTION IN CHRONIC STROKE: PILOT STUDY

6.1 Introduction

Stroke is considered the leading cause of adult disabilities in the U.S., where there are around seven million stroke survivors, most of whom suffer from sensorimotor disabilities (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). Functional recovery of the upper extremity is challenging with current rehabilitative interventions. It is reported that around 33% to 66% of stroke patients experience none to minor improvements in their arm function six months post-stroke, and only 50% experience substantial recovery in arm function five years after the stroke (Bolognini, Pascual-Leone, & Fregni, 2009; Kwakkel, Kollen, van der Grond, & Prevo, 2003; van Lieshout, Visser-Meily, Neggers, van der Worp, & Dijkhuizen, 2017).

Compared to neurologically intact individuals, stroke patients have significantly lower levels of corticospinal excitability at the lesioned M1 (Ward & Cohen, 2004). This atypical, reduced M1 excitability has been linked to the severity of motor dysfunction (Koski, Mernar, & Dobkin, 2004). In addition to the changes to the inhibitory-excitatory circuits within lesioned M1, stroke patients demonstrate an interhemispheric imbalance (Dodd et al., 2017). Therefore, in an attempt to enhance motor recovery in stroke patients, many studies have recommended functional improvement might be enhanced through a combination of rehabilitative training and neuro-modulation approaches such as TMS (Hoyer & Celnik, 2011; van Lieshout et al., 2017).

Paired associative stimulation modulates cortical excitability by pairing peripheral nerve stimulation with TMS of the M1 in a timing-dependent manner to induce Hebbianlike plasticity (Carson & Kennedy, 2013). This repetitive paired stimulation has demonstrated long-lasting, muscle-specific, bidirectional changes in M1 cortical excitability depending on the interval between the peripheral and central stimulation (Suppa et al., 2017). Although PAS has been introduced as a promising adjuvant therapeutic approach in stroke rehabilitation, only a few studies have investigated PAS-induced changes in persons with stroke.

Castel-Lacanal et al. (2007) previously studied PAS-induced changes in chronic stroke patients with subcortical lesions. Their results demonstrated the ability of PAS to induce short-term changes in the M1 as quantified by an increase in the MEPs of the targeted wrist extensors. This was also associated with a decrease in the subjects resting motor threshold (RMT) (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2007). Moreover, a PAS-induced increase in corticospinal excitability was found to be more pronounced when the PAS intervention was applied earlier (five months post-stroke) rather than later (12 months post-stroke) (Castel-Lacanal et al., 2009). This suggests that PAS might be more beneficial when introduced in the acute stage rather than the chronic stage of stroke (Suppa et al., 2017). Additionally, a recent preliminary study conducted on seven chronic stroke patients demonstrated that conventional PAS induced an increase in the corticospinal excitability when applied to the paretic or nonparetic limb (Palmer, Wolf, & Borich, 2018). Though it was not significant in their study, following PAS, motor function was improved over time, which might indicate an association between corticomotor excitability-induced effects and motor function in stroke patients.

In healthy individuals, studies that explored the effect of applying PAS during minimal isometric muscle activation, have suggested that the addition of voluntary activation results in accelerated and more consistent effects across subjects compared to

67

PAS delivered at rest (Khaslavskaia & Sinkjaer, 2005; Kujirai et al., 2006; Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2007). However, this has not yet been tested in persons with stroke.

In this pilot study, we aimed to explore two scenarios combining PAS with dynamic hand movement in a reaction time paradigm. In the first scenario, PAS of the ipsilesional M1 was combined with a voluntary activation of finger extensors of the paretic limb to test whether the PAS-induced effects would conform with results obtained in Chapter 3 with healthy individuals. We previously found (see Chapter 3) that delivering PAS during the movement execution phase induced an increase in corticospinal excitability. Secondly, we explored the feasibility of applying PAS to the ipsilesional M1 during a nonparetic finger extension (ccPAS) which might be of substantial benefit for moderate to severely impaired stroke patients, for whom the rehabilitative intervention is limited. In a previous chapter (Chapter 4), we reported that the PAS-induced effect caused by ccPAS when delivered during the execution phase in neurologically intact participants was higher than those induced when PAS was administrated at rest.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Participants

Following screening for TMS contraindications (Rossi et al., 2011), three moderately impaired persons with chronic stroke (Fugl Mayer score of 28 to 57 out of 66 points (Pang, Harris, & Eng, 2006)) (3M; mean age $59.33 \pm SD 3.32$ years; range 57-63 years) (See Table 6.1) were recruited and consented in accordance with the Institutional Review Boards of NJIT and Rutgers University. All participants completed all PAS sessions, which were assigned randomly and separated by one week to avoid any ordering or carry-over effects.

 Table 6.1 Stroke Patients Demographics

Subject	Age	Gender	General location	Specific lesion location	Impaired hand	Fugl Meyer score (FM)	Type of elicited MEPs
S1	57	Male	Subcortical	L- Thalamus	R	45/66	Active MEPs
S2	63	Male	Cortical	R- Middle cerebral artery	L	54/66	Resting MEPs
\$3	58	Male	N/A	N/A	L	47/66	Resting MEPs

6.2.2 Electromyography (EMG) recording

Wireless surface electrodes (TrignoTM electrodes, Delsys Inc.) were placed over the left and right extensor digitorum communis (EDC) muscles. EMG signals were amplified (x1000), band-pass filtered (10 – 300Hz), and digitized at a frequency of 1000 Hz.

6.2.3 Experimental Protocol

Setup Patients were seated with their hands and forearms fully relaxed in front of an LCD screen, and they viewed real-time visual feedback of hand motions displayed as Virtual Reality (VR)-rendered hand models actuated by kinematic data streaming from data gloves (Cyber Glove3) (Figure 6.1) worn on the affected or unaffected hand depending on the study condition. The VR setup was developed with Virtools (Dassault Systems), and a VRPack plugin that communicates with an open source Virtual Reality Peripheral Network interfaced with an instrumented glove.

Subjects were instructed to remain relaxed and focus their attention on visual commands displayed on a screen placed in front of them. Following the determination of stimulation parameters (RMT and electrical stimulation intensity), the instrumental glove was calibrated to register the subjects' fully relaxed position, at which the represented angle is 0°.

Three PAS conditions were conducted for each patient and applied to the paretic limb. PAS was either combined with the more affected (paretic) hand movement (PAS+Vol) or less affected (nonparetic) hand movement (ccPAS). The additional PAS at-rest session was conducted as a control. In sessions that required movements, subjects were instructed to respond to a visual cue "Move" presented on the screen with immediate full finger extension of their paretic hand for PAS+Vol or with the non-paretic hand for ccPAS sessions, and then returned to a relaxed posture at the appearance of a cue to "Relax." PAS stimulation was triggered by an angle change of five degrees measured by the CyberGlove to ensure the delivery of PAS during the execution phase of the movement. In the PAS at-rest condition, subjects were instructed to keep both hands relaxed at all times (no visual cue were given). In order to assess changes in corticospinal excitability, blocks of 20 MEPs were collected prior to (PRE) and following (POST) each PAS session and up to one hour (POST15, POST30, POST45, POST60).



Figure 6.1 Cyber Glove was worn by patients to acquire their kinematic data during the finger extension movements and deliver PAS stimulation to the affected hand. PAS was triggered by a change in the angle of five degrees from the patient's relaxed position following the presentation of a move cue on the screen.

6.2.4 Stimulation

6.2.4.1 Peripheral electrical stimulation. The more affected (paretic) EDC muscle was stimulated using a constant-current square-wave pulse of 1000µs duration (DS7A stimulator, Digitimer Ltd, Welwyn Garden City, UK) delivered through bipolar surface electrodes placed over the EDC muscle belly. The stimulation intensity was set to be 300% of the subjects' perceptual threshold (Stefan et al., 2000).

6.2.4.2 Neuronavigated TMS. To ensure TMS precision, a canonical highresolution anatomical MRI was co-registered with the subject's head for frameless neuronavigation. Throughout the process of testing, the TMS coil (Magstim Rapid 2, Air Film) was held tangentially to the scalp with the handle posterior 45° off the sagittal plane. Following a rough mapping for determination of the hotspot for the EDC muscle in lesioned M1, the RMT was defined as the minimum intensity required to elicit MEPs $>50\mu$ V in the EDC muscle in three to six consecutive trials. The TMS intensity was then set throughout all sessions to be 120% of RMT intensity.

In case we were not able to acquire MEPs while the subject was at rest, active MEPs were acquired. This was done by asking the subject to contract their EDC muscle when the "Go" cue was represented on the screen. Transcranial magnetic stimulation was set to trigger at 10% of the subjects maximum voluntary contraction (MVC). For those who did not have resting MEPs, the active motor threshold (AMT), which was determined as the minimum TMS intensity, was used to elicit MEPs of $100\mu V$ (M. Ridding & J. Taylor, 2001).

6.2.4.3 PAS. The PAS protocol that was implemented in all the study conditions comprised 240 pairs of peripheral electrical stimulation applied to the more affected EDC muscle followed by the TMS pulse delivered to the contralateral (left) motor cortex M1 with the inter-stimulus interval of 25 ms (Stefan et al., 2000). The PAS stimulation rate was set to be 0.2 Hz based on previous evidence that this frequency is most effective for inducing potentiation of M1 (Wischnewski & Schutter, 2016).

6.2.5 Assessment of corticospinal excitability

The corticospinal excitability of the lesioned side was measured before (PRE) and at different points in time following each PAS session (POST, POST15, POST30, POST45, and POST60). A block of 20 MEPs was collected and averaged for each subject within each point.

6.2.6 Statistical Analysis

At each point in time, MEPs of the EDC muscle were averaged and represented as a ration of PRE (POST/PRE). The normalized MEP ratio was then submitted to a 3x5 repeated

measure ANOVA with within-subject factors of Condition (PAS25, PAS+Vol, and ccPAS) and Time (POST, POST15, POST30, POST45, and POST60) to test changes in corticospinal excitability. An α of 0.05 was used as a criterion for statistical significance.

6.3 Results

All subjects were able to complete all PAS sessions without any fatigue or adverse events. In one of the recruited patients (S1), we were not able to elicit resting MEPs. Thus, active motor potentials were acquired instead.

The overall changes in corticospinal excitability following each condition over time is presented in Figure 6.2. The results demonstrate that PAS+Vol induced a greater increase in the MEPs amplitude (POST: $48.35\pm13.44\%$ mean \pm SEM) directly following the PAS session compared to PAS25 at rest (POST: $14.35\pm29.91\%$ mean \pm SEM) and ccPAS (11.79 $\pm15.25\%$ mean \pm SEM). This increase in the corticospinal excitability following PAS+Vol remained higher than baseline for 30 minutes after cessation of the PAS session (POST15: $53.84\pm12.41\%$, POST30: $30.71\pm11.79\%$, POST45: $11.79\pm14.14\%$, POST60: $11.43\pm20.23\%$)

On the other hand, for ccPAS conditions, an increase in the overall corticospinal excitability was developed later at POST30: 46.85 ± 32.64 and remained higher than the baseline (POST45: $48.63\pm44.54\%$, POST60: $71.14\pm36.08\%$).

Additionally, as ccPAS, PAS25 demonstrated a similar trend and the MEPs peaked 60 minutes after the session (POST15: 26.21±29.41%, POST30: 2.12±8.51%, POST45: 48.35±11.81%, POST60: 58.15±51.43%).

However, due to the small sample size and high variability of the induced effects among subjects (see Figure 6.2 and 6.3), the rmANOVA did not reveal a significant effect of the Condition (F(2, 4) =0.36, p=0.72) or Time (F(4,8) =0.90, p=0.51) or Condition X Time interaction (F(8,16) =1.13, p=0.40).



Figure 6.2 Group (Mean±SEM) change in MEP amplitude relative to baseline (POST/PRE) for the EDC muscle in each condition (PAS25, PAS+Vol, and ccPAS) over time (POST, POST15, POST30, POST45, and POST60). No differences were observed.



Figure 6.3 A) Individual stroke patients normalized to PRE MEP amplitude following PAS at rest (PAS25), PAS combined with voluntary contraction of paretic limb (PAS+Vol), and PAS triggered during ccPAS B) Group average (±SEM) of normalized to PRE MEP amplitude following PAS for healthy participant obtained from Chapter 3 and 4.

6.4 Discussion

The results of this pilot investigation intended to test the feasibility of combining motor training with the well-known modulatory PAS protocol in stroke patients. Although the effects induced by the different PAS interventions were not statistically significant, on average, PAS combined with contralesional (paretic) hand movement demonstrated a greater increase in the corticospinal excitability when compared with conventional PAS at rest. In addition, when PAS was delivered during an ipsilesional (nonparetic) hand, an increasing trend of corticospinal excitability was noted.

In the PAS paradigm, it was specifically emphasized that attention plays a key role in inducing the associative plasticity effects (Marc R Kamke et al., 2014; Katja Stefan, Matthias Wycislo, & Joseph Classen, 2004). This may be because attention has a role in determining which neural network should endure modification (Roelfsema, van Ooyen, & Watanabe, 2010). In the study by Kamke et al. (2014), it was reported that visual spatial attention has an opposite effect on LTP-like and LTD-like PAS-induced plasticity (Marc R Kamke et al., 2014). In their investigation, they found that spatial attention directed at the stimulated limb enhanced the corticospinal excitability. In contrast, administrating a spatial attention task during inhibitory PAS reduced these induced LTD-like effects. Thus, delivering PAS with a specific task of the targeted muscle in a reaction time setup may make subjects more focused, leading to enhanced effects compared to PAS at rest.

The small sample size, differences in lesions size, and locations might be the cause of the high variability of the obtained results. Thus, we did not find any significant differences in the current study. These factors are vital in determining the stability and effect size of PAS-induced changes in these interventions. In the future, other neurophysiological markers such as short intracortical inhibition (SICI), cortical silent period, and interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) should be investigated. Additionally, in order to monitor the changes in motor performance, using clinical tests such as the Fugel Meyer and arm mobility test, before and after PAS must be considered to evaluate the effectiveness of PAS.

In conclusion, several studies suggest that combining noninvasive brain stimulation with other traditional therapies has the potential to enhance motor recovery in stroke patients (Page, Cunningham, Plow, & Blazak, 2015; Vaz et al., 2019). As PAS is a promising adjuvant therapeutic approach, combining PAS with traditional motor training, passive robotics, or mirror therapy might boost motor recovery.

CHAPTER 7

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Compared to other noninvasive brain stimulation protocols, paired associative stimulation (PAS) is one of the most promising paradigms to induce corticospinal excitability changes (Vincenzo Di Lazzaro et al., 2011). Motor recovery is claimed to be dependent on plastic changes in the brain. Thus, combining noninvasive brain stimulation with motor training is believed to have a potential in boosting the therapeutic outcomes in persons with neurological disorders (Bolognini et al., 2009).

This dissertation mainly investigated the effect of incorporating PAS with motor training with the objective of inducing reliable corticospinal excitability changes in the primary motor cortex (M1). One key element that we focused on is investigating the interaction between PAS and the temporal pattern of cortical activity in relation to the movement phase. Our findings show that the movement phase directly influences the direction of the PAS-induced effects. The movement phase dependency was noticeable when PAS was combined with both ipsilateral or contralateral, unilateral hand movements in neurologically intact individuals. This is of significant importance for future studies, which aim to combine PAS with a rehabilitative approach to enhance the therapeuticinduced recovery in stroke patients. This could be achieved by ensuring the application of PAS during the execution phase of movement to induce an increase in the cortical excitability of M1 (LTP-like effect). More investigations should be considered to understand the neural mechanisms responsible for the interaction between PAS and the activity of the cortical neural network of M1 or the surrounding areas such as the somatosensory cortex and premotor cortex. This might be best done by combining TMS

with electroencephalography (EEG) to assess the temporal cortical activity during PAS when combined with overt movements. Additionally, using combined TMS/EEG protocol offers an advantage of providing information on the connectivity between the stimulated areas and other cortical areas such as posterior parietal cortex (PPC) (Veniero, Ponzo, & Koch, 2013). Furthermore, the use of paired-pulse TMS modality may also be beneficial in observing the changes of the excitatory and inhibitory circuits within the stimulated M1 following the combined PAS and movement protocol. Paired-pulse TMS could also be used to evaluate the changes in the interhemispheric inhibition between the hemispheres to examine any direct their effect on the seen PAS-induced effects of contralaterally coordinated PAS (ccPAS).

Though we did not show significant changes in the corticospinal excitability, the feasibility study we conducted on moderately impaired post-stroke patients, gives us an indication of their ability to tolerate, engage and perform a motor task with both their affected and less affected hand. In the future, attempting to combine PAS with well-established clinical rehabilitative protocols such as constraint-induced movement therapy should be considered for those who are mild to moderately impaired. On the other hand, for those who are severely impaired and have challenges participating in PAS protocol that requires activating the muscles of the affected hand, combining ccPAS with mirror therapy, for instance, might be subject of future studies. Mirror therapy consists of performing a task-oriented movement with the unimpaired limb that is reflected using a mirror placed in the midsagittal plane, so the patient perceives it as a movement of the impaired limb. This makes mirror therapy suitable for severely impaired patients was shown previously shown to improve the functional recovery post-stroke (Yavuzer et al., 2008).

Finally, another goal this dissertation observed was attempting to enhance the induction and topographical specificity of PAS-induced effects. We found that simultaneous application of facilitatory PAS (PAS25) to the hand extensor muscle (EDC) and inhibitory PAS (PAS10) to the hand flexor muscle (FDS), not only produced a consistent increase in the cortical excitability of the EDC muscle but the PAS-induced effects were only distinguishable in the EDC muscle. This might be of a functional significance if applied as a therapeutic approach in stroke rehabilitation as the induced effects were manifested at the targeted EDC muscle. Thus, using dual-PAS with stroke patients to enhance the ipsilesional cortical excitability of their affected extensor muscles is the next logical step to evaluate its effectiveness in improving the motor function. Additionally, confining the PAS-induced effects to the facilitatory PAS-targeted EDC muscle and not the inhibitory PAS-targeted antagonist FDS flexor muscle could reduce the spasticity in the affected hand. A low-frequency repetitive TMS (rTMS) intervention demonstrated its usefulness in improving the spasticity in stroke patients (Etoh et al., 2013; Kakuda et al., 2012). It will be interesting to investigate the utilization of dual-PAS to reduce the spasticity of flexor muscles in persons with stroke.

7.1 Limitations

Although we believe that neurologically intact individuals could perform cued movements in an accurate manner, the stimulation timing of some trials might not be timed correctly. Thus, in the future, especially for individuals with a neurological disorder such as stroke, EMG driven stimulation should be considered. Another way to accurately deliver the PAS stimulation is by syncing the triggering mechanism of PAS with an endogenous cortical activity by the online recording of movement-related cortical excitability (MRCP).

80

Another limitation is the small sample size of recruited stroke patients and the differences in their stroke onset, infarct size and location, and side of the lesions limited our ability to investigate further the feasibility of combining PAS with motor training. For instance, it was shown that rTMS in stroke patients is more efficient in improving the motor function of stroke patients with subcortical infarcts compared with those with cortical ones (Zhang et al., 2017). Thus, increasing the number of recruited stroke patients and controlling for the lesion location (cortical versus subcortical) should be considered in the future for a better understanding of the induced effects.

REFERENCES

- Alokaily, A. O., Yarossi, M., Fluet, G. G., Tunik, E., & Adamovich, S. V. (2018, July). *The effect of movement phase on the contralaterally coordinated paired associative stimulation-induced excitability*. Paper presented at the 2018 40th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, Honolulu, HI. doi:10.1109/EMBC.2018.8512931
- Barker, A. T., Jalinous, R., & Freeston, I. L. (1985). Non-invasive magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. *The Lancet*, 325, 1106–1107. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736 (85)92413-4
- Beaule, V., Tremblay, S., & Theoret, H. (2012). Interhemispheric control of unilateral movement. *Neural Plasticity*, 2012, 627816. doi:10.1155/2012/627816
- Bestmann, S., & Krakauer, J. W. (2015). The uses and interpretations of the motorevoked potential for understanding behaviour. *Experimental Brain Research*, 233, 679–689. doi:10.1007/s00221-014-4183-7
- Bliss, T. V., & Gardner-Medwin, A. R. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the unanaestetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *The Journal of Physiology*, 232, 357–374. doi:10.1113 /jphysiol.1973.sp010274
- Boes, A. D., Kelly, M. S., Trapp, N. T., Stern, A. P., Press, D. Z., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2018). Noninvasive brain stimulation: Challenges and opportunities for a new clinical specialty. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 30, 173–179. doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.17110262
- Bolognini, N., Pascual-Leone, A., & Fregni, F. (2009). Using non-invasive brain stimulation to augment motor training-induced plasticity. *Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation*, 6, 8. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-6-8
- Borich, M. R., Wolf, S. L., Tan, A. Q., & Palmer, J. A. (2018). Targeted neuromodulation of abnormal interhemispheric connectivity to promote neural plasticity and recovery of arm function after stroke: A randomized crossover clinical trial study protocol. *Neural Plasticity*, 2018, 9875326. doi:10.1155/2018 /9875326
- Butler, A. J., Kahn, S., Wolf, S. L., & Weiss, P. (2005). Finger extensor variability in TMS parameters among chronic stroke patients. *Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation*, 2, 10. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-2-10
- Carson, R. G., & Kennedy, N. C. (2013). Modulation of human corticospinal excitability by paired associative stimulation. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *7*, 823. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2018.02.007

- Castel-Lacanal, E., Gerdelat-Mas, A., Marque, P., Loubinoux, I., & Simonetta-Moreau, M. (2007). Induction of cortical plastic changes in wrist muscles by paired associative stimulation in healthy subjects and post-stroke patients. *Experimental Brain Research*, 180, 113–122. doi:10.1007/s00221-006-0844-5
- Castel-Lacanal, E., Marque, P., Tardy, J., de Boissezon, X., Guiraud, V., Chollet, F., . . . Moreau, M. S. (2009). Induction of cortical plastic changes in wrist muscles by paired associative stimulation in the recovery phase of stroke patients. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, *23*, 366–372. doi:10.1177 /1545968308322841
- Chen, R., & Hallett, M. (1999). The time course of changes in motor cortex excitability associated with voluntary movement. *The Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, *26*, 163–169. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /10451737
- Chen, R., Yaseen, Z., Cohen, L. G., & Hallett, M. (1998). Time course of corticospinal excitability in reaction time and self-paced movements. *Annals of Neurology*, 44, 317–325. doi:10.1002/ana.410440306
- Citri, A., & Malenka, R. C. (2008). Synaptic plasticity: Multiple forms, functions, and mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *33*, 18–41. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301559
- Cohen, L. G., Ziemann, U., Chen, R., Classen, J., Hallett, M., Gerloff, C., & Butefisch, C. (1998). Studies of neuroplasticity with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Journal* of Clinical Neurophysiology, 15, 305–324. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm .nih.gov/pubmed/9736465
- Cramer, S. C., Sur, M., Dobkin, B. H., O'Brien, C., Sanger, T. D., Trojanowski, J. Q., ... Vinogradov, S. (2011). Harnessing neuroplasticity for clinical applications. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *134*, 1591–1609. doi:10.1093/brain/awr039
- Dąbrowski, J., Czajka, A., Zielińska-Turek, J., Jaroszyński, J., Furtak-Niczyporuk, M., Mela, A., . . . Ziemba, A. (2019). Brain functional reserve in the context of neuroplasticity after stroke. *Neural Plasticity*, 2019, 9708905. doi:10.1155/2019 /9708905
- Dang, B., Chen, W., He, W., & Chen, G. (2017). Rehabilitation treatment and progress of traumatic brain injury dysfunction. *Neural Plasticity*, 2017, 1582182. doi:10.1155 /2017/1582182
- Di Lazzaro, V., Dileone, M., Pilato, F., Capone, F., Musumeci, G., Ranieri, F., . . . De Waure, C. (2011). Modulation of motor cortex neuronal networks by rTMS: Comparison of local and remote effects of six different protocols of stimulation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 105, 2150–2156. doi:10.1152/jn.00781.2010

- Di Lazzaro, V., Restuccia, D., Oliviero, A., Profice, P., Ferrara, L., Insola, A., . . . Rothwell, J. C. (1998). Effects of voluntary contraction on descending volleys evoked by transcranial stimulation in conscious humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, 508(2), 625–633. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/10090665
- Dickins, D. S., Kamke, M. R., & Sale, M. V. (2017). Corticospinal plasticity in bilateral primary motor cortices induced by paired associative stimulation to the dominant hemisphere does not differ between young and older adults. *Neural Plasticity*, 2017, epub. 8319049. doi:10.1155/2017/8319049
- Dobkin, B. H. (2005). Clinical practice: Rehabilitation after stroke. *New England Journal* of Medicine, 352, 1677–1684. doi:10.1056/NEJMcp043511
- Dodd, K. C., Nair, V. A., & Prabhakaran, V. (2017). Role of the contralesional vs. ipsilesional hemisphere in stroke recovery. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 11, 469. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2017.00469
- Edwardson, M. A., Avery, D. H., & Fetz, E. E. (2014). Volitional muscle activity paired with transcranial magnetic stimulation increases corticospinal excitability. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *8*, 442. doi:10.3389/fnins.2014.00442
- Elahi, B., Elahi, B., & Chen, R. (2009). Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation on Parkinson motor function: Systematic review of controlled clinical trials. *Movement Disorders*, 24, 357–363. doi:10.1002/mds.22364
- Elahi, B., Gunraj, C., & Chen, R. (2012). Short-interval intracortical inhibition blocks long-term potentiation induced by paired associative stimulation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 107, 1935–1941. doi:10.1152/jn.00202.2011
- Etoh, S., Noma, T., Ikeda, K., Jonoshita, Y., Ogata, A., Matsumoto, S., . . . Kawahira, K. (2013). Effects of repetitive trascranial magnetic stimulation on repetitive facilitation exercises of the hemiplegic hand in chronic stroke patients. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 45, 843–847. doi:10.2340/16501977-1175
- Floeter, M. K., & Rothwell, J. C. (1999). Releasing the brakes before pressing the gas pedal. *Neurology*, 53, 664–665. doi:10.1212/wnl.53.4.664
- Fratello, F., Veniero, D., Curcio, G., Ferrara, M., Marzano, C., Moroni, F., ... De Gennaro, L. (2006). Modulation of corticospinal excitability by paired associative stimulation: Reproducibility of effects and intraindividual reliability. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 117, 2667–2674. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2006.07.315
- Groppa, S., Oliviero, A., Eisen, A., Quartarone, A., Cohen, L., Mall, V., ... Thickbroom, G. (2012). A practical guide to diagnostic transcranial magnetic stimulation: Report of an IFCN committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *123*, 858–882. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2012.01.010

- Harris-Love, M. L., & Cohen, L. G. (2006). Noninvasive cortical stimulation in neurorehabilitation: A review. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 87, 84–93. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2006.08.330
- Hasegawa, M., Majima, K., Itokazu, T., Maki, T., Albrecht, U. R., Castner, N., ... Sato, T. R. (2017). Selective suppression of local circuits during movement preparation in the mouse motor cortex. *Cell Reports*, 18, 2676–2686. doi:10.1016/j.celrep .2017.02.043
- Hebb, D. O. (2005). *The organization of behavior: A neuropsychological theory*. London, England: Psychology Press.
- Hoyer, E. H., & Celnik, P. A. (2011). Understanding and enhancing motor recovery after stroke using transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 29, 395–409. doi:10.3233/RNN-2011-0611
- Jochumsen, M., Niazi, I. K., Signal, N., Nedergaard, R. W., Holt, K., Haavik, H., & Taylor, D. (2016). Pairing voluntary movement and muscle-located electrical stimulation increases cortical excitability. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 482. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00482
- Kakuda, W., Abo, M., Momosaki, R., Yokoi, A., Fukuda, A., Ito, H., ... Kameda, Y. (2012). Combined therapeutic application of botulinum toxin type A, low-frequency rTMS, and intensive occupational therapy for post-stroke spastic upper limb hemiparesis. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 48, 47–55. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22071503
- Kamke, M. R., Nydam, A. S., Sale, M. V., & Mattingley, J. B. (2016). Associative plasticity in the human motor cortex is enhanced by concurrently targeting separate muscle representations with excitatory and inhibitory protocols. *Journal* of Neurophysiology, 115, 2191–2198. doi:10.1152/jn.00794.2015
- Kamke, M. R., Ryan, A. E., Sale, M. V., Campbell, M. E., Riek, S., Carroll, T. J., & Mattingley, J. B. (2014). Visual spatial attention has opposite effects on bidirectional plasticity in the human motor cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34, 1475–1480. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1595-13.2014
- Karabanov, A., Thielscher, A., & Siebner, H. R. (2016). Transcranial brain stimulation: Closing the loop between brain and stimulation. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 29, 397–404. doi:10.1097/WCO.00000000000342
- Khaslavskaia, S., & Sinkjaer, T. (2005). Motor cortex excitability following repetitive electrical stimulation of the common peroneal nerve depends on the voluntary drive. *Experimental Brain Research*, *162*, 497–502. doi:10.1007/s00221-004-2153-1
- Klomjai, W., Katz, R., & Lackmy-Vallee, A. (2015). Basic principles of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, *58*, 208–213. doi:10.1016/j.rehab.2015.05.005

- Knutson, J. S., Gunzler, D. D., Wilson, R. D., & Chae, J. (2016). Contralaterally controlled functional electrical stimulation improves hand dexterity in chronic hemiparesis: A randomized trial. *Stroke*, 47, 2596–2602. doi:10.1161 /STROKEAHA.116.013791
- Knutson, J. S., Harley, M. Y., Hisel, T. Z., Hogan, S. D., Maloney, M. M., & Chae, J. (2012). Contralaterally controlled functional electrical stimulation for upper extremity hemiplegia: An early-phase randomized clinical trial in subacute stroke patients. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 26, 239–246. doi:10.1177 /1545968311419301
- Knutson, J. S., Harley, M. Y., Hisel, T. Z., Makowski, N. S., & Chae, J. (2014).
 Contralaterally controlled functional electrical stimulation for recovery of elbow extension and hand opening after stroke: A pilot case series study. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 93, 528–539. doi:10.1097
 /PHM.00000000000066
- Kornhuber, H.-H. (1965). Changes in the brain potential in voluntary movements and passive movements in man: Readiness potential and reafferent potentials. *Pflugers Arch Gesamte Physiol Menschen Tiere*, *10*, 1–17. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14341490
- Koski, L., Mernar, T. J., & Dobkin, B. H. (2004). Immediate and long-term changes in corticomotor output in response to rehabilitation: Correlation with functional improvements in chronic stroke. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 18, 230– 249. doi:10.1177/1545968304269210
- Kubis, N. (2016). Non-invasive brain stimulation to enhance post-stroke recovery. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, *10*, 56. doi:10.3389/fncir.2016.00056
- Kujirai, K., Kujirai, T., Sinkjaer, T., & Rothwell, J. C. (2006). Associative plasticity in human motor cortex during voluntary muscle contraction. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 96, 1337–1346. doi:10.1152/jn.01140.2005
- Kwakkel, G., Kollen, B. J., van der Grond, J., & Prevo, A. J. (2003). Probability of regaining dexterity in the flaccid upper limb: Impact of severity of paresis and time since onset in acute stroke. *Stroke*, 34, 2181–2186. doi:10.1161/01.STR .0000087172.16305.CD
- Kwakkel, G., Veerbeek, J. M., van Wegen, E. E. H., & Wolf, S. L. (2015). Constraintinduced movement therapy after stroke. *The Lancet: Neurology*, 14, 224–234. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70160-7
- Lahr, J., Passmann, S., List, J., Vach, W., Floel, A., & Kloppel, S. (2016). Effects of different analysis strategies on paired associative stimulation: A pooled data analysis from three research labs. *PloS one*, *11*, e0154880. doi:10.1371/journal .pone.0154880

- Leocani, L., Cohen, L. G., Wassermann, E. M., Ikoma, K., & Hallett, M. (2000). Human corticospinal excitability evaluated with transcranial magnetic stimulation during different reaction time paradigms. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 123(6), 1161– 1173. doi:10.1093/brain/123.6.1161
- Liepert, J. (2003). TMS in stroke. *Supplements to Clinical Neurophysiology*, *56*, 368–380. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/m/pubmed/14677413/
- Lin, M. P., & Liebeskind, D. S. (2016). Imaging of ischemic stroke. *Continuum: Lifelong Learning in Neurology*, 22, 1399–1423. doi:10.1212/CON.00000000000376
- Liu, X.-H., Huai, J., Gao, J., Zhang, Y., & Yue, S.-W. (2017). Constraint-induced movement therapy in treatment of acute and sub-acute stroke: A meta-analysis of 16 randomized controlled trials. *Neural Regeneration Research*, 12, 1443–1450. doi:10.4103/1673-5374.215255
- López-Alonso, V., Cheeran, B., Río-Rodríguez, D., & Fernández-del-Olmo, M. (2014). Inter-individual variability in response to non-invasive brain stimulation paradigms. *Brain Stimulation*, 7, 372–380. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2014.02.004
- Macdonald, D. B., Skinner, S., Shils, J., & Yingling, C. (2013). Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring - a position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 124, 2291–2316. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2013.07.025
- Marciniak, C. (2011). Poststroke hypertonicity: Upper limb assessment and treatment. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, *18*, 179–194. doi:10.1310/tsr1803-179
- Martin, S. J., Grimwood, P. D., & Morris, R. G. (2000). Synaptic plasticity and memory: An evaluation of the hypothesis. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *23*, 649–711. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.649
- McIntyre, A., Mirkowski, M., Thompson, S., Burhan, A. M., Miller, T., & Teasell, R. (2018). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for spasticity poststroke. *PM & R: The Journal of Injury, Function, and Rehabilitation*, *10*, 293–302. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2017.10 .001
- Mozaffarian, D., Benjamin, E. J., Go, A. S., Arnett, D. K., Blaha, M. J., Cushman, M., ... Turner, M. B. (2015). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2015 update: A report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 131, e29–e322. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000152
- Mrachacz-Kersting, N., & Stevenson, J. T. A. (2017). Paired associative stimulation targeting the tibialis anterior muscle using either mono or biphasic transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 11, 197. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2017.00197

- Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Fong, M., Murphy, B. A., & Sinkjaer, T. (2007). Changes in excitability of the cortical projections to the human tibialis anterior after paired associative stimulation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 97, 1951–1958. doi:10.1152 /jn.01176.2006
- Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Kristensen, S. R., Niazi, I. K., & Farina, D. (2012). Precise temporal association between cortical potentials evoked by motor imagination and afference induces cortical plasticity. *The Journal of Physiology*, 590, 1669–1682. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2011.222851
- Muellbacher, W., Ziemann, U., Boroojerdi, B., Cohen, L., & Hallett, M. (2001). Role of the human motor cortex in rapid motor learning. *Experimental Brain Research*, *136*, 431–438. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11291723
- Müller-Dahlhaus, J. F., Orekhov, Y., Liu, Y., & Ziemann, U. (2008). Interindividual variability and age-dependency of motor cortical plasticity induced by paired associative stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, *187*, 467–475. doi:10.1007/s00221-008-1319-7
- Müller-Dahlhaus, J. F., Ziemann, U., & Classen, J. (2010). Plasticity resembling spiketiming dependent synaptic plasticity: The evidence in human cortex. *Frontiers in Synaptic Neuroscience*, 2, 34. doi:10.3389/fnsyn.2010.00034
- Murphy, T. H., Corbett, D. (2009). Plasticity during stroke recovery: From synapse to behaviour, Nature reviews. *Neuroscience*, *10*, 861–872. doi:10.1038/nrn2735
- Nitsche, M. A., Roth, A., Kuo, M. F., Fischer, A. K., Liebetanz, D., Lang, N., ... Paulus, W. (2007). Timing-dependent modulation of associative plasticity by general network excitability in the human motor cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 3807–3812. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5348-06.2007
- Nudo, R. J., Wise, B. M., SiFuentes, F., & Milliken, G. W. (1996). Neural substrates for the effects of rehabilitative training on motor recovery after ischemic infarct. *Science*, 272, 1791–1794. doi:10.1126/science.272.5269.1791
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, *9*, 97–113. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm .nih.gov/pubmed/5146491
- Page, S. J., Cunningham, D. A., Plow, E., & Blazak, B. (2015). It takes two: Noninvasive brain stimulation combined with neurorehabilitation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 96, S89–S93. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2014.09.019
- Palmer, J. A., Wolf, S. L., & Borich, M. R. (2018). Paired associative stimulation modulates corticomotor excitability in chronic stroke: A preliminary investigation. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 36, 183–194. doi:10.3233/RNN-170785
- Pang, M. Y., Harris, J. E., & Eng, J. J. (2006). A community-based upper-extremity group exercise program improves motor function and performance of functional activities in chronic stroke: A randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 87, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2005.08.113
- Pollock, A., Farmer, S. E., Brady, M. C., Langhorne, P., Mead, G. E., Mehrholz, J., & van Wijck, F. (2014). Interventions for improving upper limb function after stroke. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 11, CD010820. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010820.pub2
- Pomeroy, V., Aglioti, S. M., Mark, V. W., McFarland, D., Stinear, C., Wolf, S. L., ... Fitzpatrick, S. M. (2011). Neurological principles and rehabilitation of action disorders: Rehabilitation interventions. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 25, 33s–43s. doi:10.1177/1545968311410942
- Potter-Nerger, M., Fischer, S., Mastroeni, C., Groppa, S., Deuschl, G., Volkmann, J., . . . Siebner, H. R. (2009). Inducing homeostatic-like plasticity in human motor cortex through converging corticocortical inputs. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *102*, 3180–3190. doi:10.1152/jn.91046.2008
- Powell, J., Pandyan, A. D., Granat, M., Cameron, M., & Stott, D. J. (1999). Electrical stimulation of wrist extensors in poststroke hemiplegia. *Stroke*, *30*, 1384–1389. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10390311
- Quartarone, A., Bagnato, S., Rizzo, V., Siebner, H. R., Dattola, V., Scalfari, A., . . . Girlanda, P. (2003). Abnormal associative plasticity of the human motor cortex in writer's cramp. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *126*, 2586–2596. doi:10.1093 /brain/awg273
- Quartarone, A., Morgante, F., Sant'angelo, A., Rizzo, V., Bagnato, S., Terranova, C., . . . Girlanda, P. (2008). Abnormal plasticity of sensorimotor circuits extends beyond the affected body part in focal dystonia. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 79, 985–990. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.121632
- Quartarone, A., Rizzo, V., Bagnato, S., Morgante, F., Sant'Angelo, A., Girlanda, P., & Siebner, H. R. (2006). Rapid-rate paired associative stimulation of the median nerve and motor cortex can produce long-lasting changes in motor cortical excitability in humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, 575, 657–670. doi:10.1113 /jphysiol.2006.114025
- Reynolds, C., & Ashby, P. (1999). Inhibition in the human motor cortex is reduced just before a voluntary contraction. *Neurology*, 53, 730–735. doi:10.1212/wnl.53.4 .730
- Ridding, M. C., Pearce, S. L., & Flavel, S. C. (2005). Modulation of intracortical excitability in human hand motor areas. The effect of cutaneous stimulation and its topographical arrangement. *Experimental Brain Research*, 163, 335–343. doi:10.1007/s00221-004-2176-7

- Ridding, M. C., & Rothwell, J. C. (1999). Afferent input and cortical organisation: A study with magnetic stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 126, 536–544. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10422717
- Ridding, M. C., & Taylor, J. L. (2001). Mechanisms of motor-evoked potential facilitation following prolonged dual peripheral and central stimulation in humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, 537, 623–631. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793 .2001.00623.x
- Ridding, M. C., Taylor, J. L., & Rothwell, J. C. (1995). The effect of voluntary contraction on cortico-cortical inhibition in human motor cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, 487(2), 541–548. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1995.sp020898
- Ridding, M., & Taylor, J. (2001). Mechanisms of motor □evoked potential facilitation following prolonged dual peripheral and central stimulation in humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, 537, 623–631. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00623.x
- Roelfsema, P. R., van Ooyen, A., & Watanabe, T. (2010). Perceptual learning rules based on reinforcers and attention. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 14, 64–71. doi:10.1016 /j.tics.2009.11.005
- Rosenkranz, K., & Rothwell, J. C. (2006). Differences between the effects of three plasticity inducing protocols on the organization of the human motor cortex. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 23, 822–829. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006 .04605.x
- Rossi, S., Hallett, M., & Rossini, P. M. Pascual-Leone, A. (2011). Screening questionnaire before TMS: An update. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122, 1686. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2010.12.037
- Rossini, P. M., Zarola, F., Stalberg, E., & Caramia, M. (1988). Pre-movement facilitation of motor-evoked potentials in man during transcranial stimulation of the central motor pathways. *Brain Research*, 458, 20–30. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(88)90491
 -x
- Sacco, R. L., Kasner, S. E., Broderick, J. P., Caplan, L. R., Connors, J. J., Culebras, A., ... Vinters, H. V. (2013). An updated definition of stroke for the 21st century: A statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*, 44, 2064–2089. doi:10.1161 /STR.0b013e318296aeca
- Schneider, S. A., Pleger, B., Draganski, B., Cordivari, C., Rothwell, J. C., Bhatia, K. P., & Dolan, R. J. (2010). Modulatory effects of 5Hz rTMS over the primary somatosensory cortex in focal dystonia: An fMRI TMS study. *Movement Disorders*, 25, 76–83. doi:10.1002/mds.22825

- Starr, A., Caramia, M., Zarola, F., & Rossini, P. M. (1988). Enhancement of motor cortical excitability in humans by non-invasive electrical stimulation appears prior to voluntary movement. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 70, 26–32. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2455627
- Stedman, A., Davey, N. J., & Ellaway, P. H. (1998). Facilitation of human first dorsal interosseous muscle responses to transcranial magnetic stimulation during voluntary contraction of the contralateral homonymous muscle. *Muscle and Nerve*, 21, 1033–1039. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4598(199808)21:8<1033::AID -MUS7>3.0.CO;2-9
- Stefan, K., Kunesch, E., Benecke, R., Cohen, L. G., & Classen, J. (2002). Mechanisms of enhancement of human motor cortex excitability induced by interventional paired associative stimulation. *The Journal of Physiology*, 543, 699–708. doi:10.1113 /jphysiol.2002.023317
- Stefan, K., Kunesch, E., Cohen, L. G., Benecke, R., Classen, J. (2000). Induction of plasticity in the human motor cortex by paired associative stimulation. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 123, 572–584. doi:10.1093/brain/123.3.572
- Stefan, K., Wycislo, M., & Classen, J. (2004). Modulation of associative human motor cortical plasticity by attention. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 92, 66–72. doi:10.1152/jn.00383.2003
- Stinear, C. M., Petoe, M. A., & Byblow, W. D. (2015). Primary motor cortex excitability during recovery after stroke: Implications for neuromodulation. *Brain Stimulation*, 8, 1183–1190. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2015.06.015
- Suppa, A., Quartarone, A., Siebner, H., Chen, R., Di Lazzaro, V., Del Giudice, P., ... Classen, J. (2017). The associative brain at work: Evidence from paired associative stimulation studies in humans. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *128*, 2140– 2164. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2017.08.003
- Tarkka, I. M., Könönen, M., Pitkänen, K., Sivenius, J., & Mervaala, E. (2008). Alterations in cortical excitability in chronic stroke after constraint-induced movement therapy. *Neurological Research*, 30, 504–510. doi:10.1179 /016164107X252519
- Thabit, M. N., Ueki, Y., Koganemaru, S., Fawi, G., Fukuyama, H., & Mima, T. (2010). Movement-related cortical stimulation can induce human motor plasticity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30, 11529–11536. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1829-10 .2010
- Thickbroom, G. W. (2007). Transcranial magnetic stimulation and synaptic plasticity: Experimental framework and human models. *Experimental Brain Research*, *180*, 583–593. doi:10.1007/s00221-007-0991-3

- van Lieshout, E. C., Visser-Meily, J. M., Neggers, S. F., van der Worp, H. B., & Dijkhuizen, R. M. (2017). Brain stimulation for arm recovery after stroke (B-STARS): Protocol for a randomised controlled trial in subacute stroke patients. *BMJ Open*, 7, e016566. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016566
- Vaz, P. G., Salazar, A. P. D. S., Stein, C., Marchese, R. R., Lukrafka, J. L., R. Plentz, D. M., & Pagnussat, A. S. (2019). Noninvasive brain stimulation combined with other therapies improves gait speed after stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 26, 201–213. doi:10.1080/10749357.2019.1565696
- Veniero, D., Ponzo, V., & Koch, G. (2013). Paired associative stimulation enforces the communication between interconnected areas. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33, 13773–13783. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1777-13.2013
- Ward, N. S., & Cohen, L. G. (2004). Mechanisms underlying recovery of motor function after stroke. Archives of Neurology, 61, 1844–1848. doi:10.1001/archneur.61.12 .1844
- Weise, D., Mann, J., Ridding, M., Eskandar, K., Huss, M., Rumpf, J. J., . . . Classen, J. (2013). Microcircuit mechanisms involved in paired associative stimulationinduced depression of corticospinal excitability. *The Journal of Physiology*, 591, 4903–4920. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2013.253989
- Weise, D., Schramm, A., Beck, M., Reiners, K., & Classen, J. (2011). Loss of topographic specificity of LTD-like plasticity is a trait marker in focal dystonia. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 42, 171–176. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2010.11.009
- Weise, D., Schramm, A., Stefan, K., Wolters, A., Reiners, K., Naumann, M., & Classen, J. (2006). The two sides of associative plasticity in writer's cramp. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *129*, 2709–2721. doi:10.1093/brain/awl221
- Winship, I. R., & Murphy, T. H. (2009). Remapping the somatosensory cortex after stroke: Insight from imaging the synapse to network. *Neuroscientist*, 15, 507–524. doi:10.1177/1073858409333076
- Wischnewski, M., & Schutter, D. (2016). Efficacy and time course of paired associative stimulation in cortical plasticity: Implications for neuropsychiatry. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 127, 732–739. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.04.072
- Wolters, A., Sandbrink, F., Schlottmann, A., Kunesch, E., Stefan, K., Cohen, L. G., ... Classen, J. (2003). A temporally asymmetric Hebbian rule governing plasticity in the human motor cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89, 2339–2345. doi:10.1152/jn.00900.2002
- Yarossi, M., Manuweera, T., Adamovich, S. V., & Tunik, E. (2017). The effects of mirror feedback during target directed movements on ipsilateral corticospinal excitability. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 11, 242. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2017 .00242

- Yavuzer, G., Selles, R., Sezer, N., Sütbeyaz, S., Bussmann, J. B., Köseoğlu, F., . . . Stam, H. J. (2008). Mirror therapy improves hand function in subacute stroke: A randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 89, 393–398. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2007.08.162
- Zhang, L., Xing, G., Fan, Y., Guo, Z., Chen, H., & Mu, Q. (2017). Short-and long-term effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on upper limb motor function after stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 31, 1137–1153. doi:10.1177/0269215517692386